Theory of Fibered 3-Knots in S^5 and its Applications

By Osamu SAEKI

Abstract. Let K be a closed connected orientable 3-manifold embedded in S^5 whose complement smoothly fibers over the circle with simply connected fibers. Such an embedded 3-manifold is called a *sim*ple fibered 3-knot. In this paper we study such embedded 3-manifolds and give various new results, which are classified into three types: (1) those which are similar to higher dimensional fibered knots, (2) those which are peculiar to fibered knots in S^5 , and (3) applications. Among the results of type (1) are the isotopy criterions via Seifert matrices, determining fibered 3-knots by their exteriors, topological or stable uniqueness of the fibering structures, and the effectiveness of plumbing operations. As results of type (2), we give various explicit examples of fibered 3-knots with the same diffeomorphism type of the abstract 3-manifolds and with congruent Seifert matrices but with different isotopy types. We also give some examples of fibered knots whose exteriors are diffeomorphic but with different isotopy types. We also show that there exist infinitely many embeddings of the punctured K3 surface into S^5 which are fibers of topological fibrations but which can never be a fiber of any smooth fibrations. We construct a fibered 3-knot which is decomposable as a knot such that neither of the factor knots are fibered. As a result of type (3), we study topological isotopies of homeomorphisms of simply connected 4-manifolds with boundary by using the techniques of fibered 3-knots. We also apply our techniques to the embedding problem of simply connected 4-manifolds into S^6 . Finally we give some applications to the topological study of isolated hypersurface singularities in \mathbb{C}^3 .

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Isotopy Criterion

692

¹⁹⁹¹ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 57Q45; Secondary 57N35. Key words: Fibered knot, Seifert matrix, isotopy of 4-manifolds, complex isolated hypersurface singularity.

Osamu	SAEKI
-------	-------

3.	. Seifert Matrix Does Not Necessarily Determine the Isotopy		
	Туре	706	
4.	Reflexivity of Fibered 3-Knots	716	
5.	Fibering Structures	724	
6.	Fibered 3-Knots with Fiber a Punctured K3 Surface	728	
7.	Decomposition of Fibered 3-Knots	730	
8.	Plumbing Fibered 3-Knots	734	
q	9 Application to Isotopy of 1-Connected 4-Manifolds with		
5.	Boundary	739	
10	. Application to Embeddings of 4-Manifolds into S^6	744	
11	11. Application to the Topology of Hypersurface Singularities		
	in \mathbb{C}^3	747	

1. Introduction

Consider a complex isolated hypersurface singularity in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} . It is known as Milnor's fibration theorem [59] that the intersection of the hypersurface with a sphere S^{2n+1} centered at the singular point with sufficiently small radius is a nonsingular smooth (2n - 1)-dimensional manifold and that its complement in S^{2n+1} smoothly fibers over the circle. Furthermore, the isotopy type of the (2n - 1)-dimensional manifold embedded in S^{2n+1} completely determines the local (embedded) topology of the hypersurface. Thus it is fundamental to study the isotopy types of embedded (2n - 1)dimensional manifolds in S^{2n+1} whose complements fiber over the circle. Such embedded manifolds are called *fibered knots* and this class of embeddings has been studied extensively (for example, see [21], [36]). Note that the embedded manifold is not always homeomorphic to the (2n-1)-dimensional sphere, although the word "knot" often refers to embeddings of manifolds homeomorphic to the standard spheres.

When n = 1, the knot lies in the 3-sphere and the classical knot and link theory plays an important role in this dimension. In fact, the knots which arise around an isolated singular point in \mathbf{C}^2 have been completely classified. For example, when the knot consists of one component (i.e., when the hypersurface singularity is irreducible), such knots are completely classified by their Alexander polynomials (see, for example, [51], [90]). On the other hand, when $n \geq 3$, the techniques of higher dimensional differential topology can be applied and many results have been obtained. For example, in [21], [36], it has been shown that the isotopy classes of fibered knots in S^{2n+1} with some connectivity conditions are in one-to-one correspondence with the congruence classes of integral unimodular matrices through Seifert matrix. In particular, the congruence class of a Seifert matrix determines the diffeomorphism type of the embedded manifold. This classification heavily depends on the celebrated h-cobordism theorem of Smale [82], which works only for $n \geq 3$. Another such example can be found in the work of Lê and Ramanujam [52], who have shown that a μ -constant deformation of an isolated hypersurface singularity in \mathbf{C}^{n+1} is topologically constant for $n \neq 2$, by using the h-cobordism theorem. Note that this has not been known to be true or not for n = 2.

When n = 2, these techniques of higher dimensional differential topology do not work. In fact, it has been known that there exist fibered knots in S^5 with congruent Seifert matrices but with different diffeomorphism types (see [74]). One of the major difficulties here is that the fundamental group of the embedded 3-manifold is not necessarily trivial. Another difficulty is related to the 4-dimensional topology: in this dimension, the fiber of a fibered knot is a simply connected 4-manifold and it is known that the differential topology of 4-dimensional manifolds is totally different from those of the other dimensions as is seen in the works of Freedman [23] and Donaldson [18], [19], [20].

The purpose of the present paper is to study extensively fibered knots in S^5 by using the recently developed theory of 3- and 4-dimensional topology. This is a continuation of the works developed in [74], [75]. Note that, in [74], [75], almost all fibered knots that we could handle were those of homology 3-spheres. In the present paper, we study fibered knots which are not necessarily homology 3-spheres as well. The results can be classified into three types: (1) those which are similar to higher dimensional cases,

(2) those which are peculiar to this dimension, and (3) applications. One of the main results of the first class is as follows.

THEOREM 2.12. Let K_j (j = 0, 1) be simple fibered knots in S^5 such that K_0 and K_1 are homeomorphic as abstract 3-manifolds. We suppose that $H_1(K_j; \mathbb{Z})$ are a cyclic group of order $r = 1, 2, 4, p^m$ or $2p^m$ with p an odd prime or that K_j are homeomorphic to a connected sum of some copies of $S^2 \times S^1$. Then the two fibered knots K_0 and K_1 are isotopic to each other if and only if their Seifert matrices are congruent.

One of the main results of the second class is as follows.

THEOREM 4.6. Let Σ be a nontrivial orientable S^1 -bundle over the closed orientable surface of genus $g \geq 2$. Then there exist simple fibered knots K_0, \ldots, K_{g-1} in S^5 with the following properties.

- (1) All K_i are diffeomorphic to Σ as abstract 3-manifolds.
- (2) The exteriors $E(K_i) = S^5 \operatorname{Int} N(K_i)$ are all diffeomorphic to each other, where $N(K_i)$ is a tubular neighborhood of K_i in S^5 .
- (3) The Seifert matrices of K_i are all congruent to each other.
- (4) The knots K_i and K_j are not isotopic to each other if $i \neq j$.

Using the techniques of fibered knots in S^5 , we give some new results on 4-dimensional topology as applications. One of the main results is as follows.

PROPOSITION 9.9. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected spin 4manifold with boundary homeomorphic to a lens space L(p,q) $(p \ge 2)$, the 3-sphere or the Poincaré homology 3-sphere. Let $h_i : F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) be two orientation preserving diffeomorphisms. Then there exists a nonnegative integer k such that $h_i \sharp k(\mathrm{id}) : F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2) \to F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ are smoothly isotopic to each other if and only if $(h_1)_* = (h_2)_* : H_2(F; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_2(F; \mathbb{Z})$.

We also consider some applications to the topology of isolated hypersurface singularities in \mathbb{C}^3 , which was originally our motivation. The paper is organized as follows. In §2, we recall the precise definition of simple fibered knots and give some isotopy criterions for fibered knots in S^5 . One of the principal results is that two fibered knots in S^5 are isotopic if and only if there exists a homeomorphism between their fibers which gives the congruence of the Seifert matrices (Theorem 2.2). The essential idea used here can already be found in Levine's work [54]; however, we should also use some techniques of 4-dimensional topology, among which is Boyer's result [9] about the existence of homeomorphisms between simply connected 4-manifolds with boundary. As a corollary, we show that for certain cases, the abstract diffeomorphism type of a fibered knot and its Seifert matrix do determine the isotopy type (Theorem 2.12).

In §3, we give some examples of fibered knots in S^5 for which the Seifert matrix and the abstract diffeomorphism type do not determine the isotopy type. Here we give two types of such examples. In the first example, the fibers are diffeomorphic and the Seifert matrices are congruent, but the algebraic isomorphism between the second homology groups of the fibers cannot be realized by any homeomorphism (Theorem 3.1). In this example, we can construct an arbitrary number of such fibered knots. In the second example, the fibers themselves are not homeomorphic to each other (Proposition 3.8, Example 3.10).

In §4, we consider the problem whether a fibered knot in S^5 is determined by its exterior or not. We show that, for fibered knots in S^5 which are certain rational homology 3-spheres, this is true (Theorem 4.1). Note that, for higher dimensional spherical knots, a similar result has been obtained by Levine [54, §22]. However, for fibered knots which are not rational homology 3-spheres, the exterior does not determine the isotopy type in general. We show this by explicitly constructing fibered knots with such properties (Theorem 4.6).

In §5, we study the fibering structures of fibered knots in S^5 . For higher dimensions, Durfee [21] and Kato [36] have shown that the fibering structures of fibered knots are unique up to smooth isotopy for higher dimensions. Here we show that the fibering structures of fibered knots in S^5 are unique up to topological isotopy (Theorem 5.1) and up to stable equivalence (Proposition 5.7). We also give some examples which show that the smooth fibering structures are not unique in general for fibered knots in S^5 .

In §6, we study fibered knots in S^5 whose fibers are punctured K3 sur-

faces. In fact, in §10, we show that for any smooth closed 1-connected spin 4-manifold N not homotopy equivalent to S^4 , there exists a fibered knot whose fiber is diffeomorphic to $N \# (S^2 \times S^2) - \operatorname{Int} D^4$, by using the techniques developed in [74] (Proposition 10.1). However, a K3 surface cannot be decomposed into a connected sum $N \# (S^2 \times S^2)$ (see [19]). In §6, we construct infinitely many fibered knots with fiber a K3 surface by using Matumoto's result about the diffeomorphisms of a K3 surface [58] (Proposition 6.1). As a byproduct, we obtain infinitely many embeddings of a punctured K3 surface in S^5 such that they are fibers of topological fibrations, but which cannot be fibers of any smooth fibrations (Proposition 6.2).

In §7, we study the factorization of fibered knots in S^5 . We give an example of a fibered knot in S^5 which is decomposable as a knot, but whose factor knots can never be fibered smoothly (Example 7.1). We also give an example of a fibered knot in S^5 whose Seifert matrix is decomposable, but which is not decomposable as a knot (Proposition 7.4). Note that, in higher dimensions, such a fibered knot is always decomposable. Furthermore, we give some results about the cancellation problem for certain fibered knots (Propositions 7.6 and 7.7).

In §8, we study the plumbing operation of fibered knots in S^5 . As is well known, for the other dimensions, the plumbing operation is a powerful way to produce a new fibered knot from given two old ones (see [30], [83], [55], [56]). In this section, we show that the plumbing operation does work also for this dimension (Theorem 8.1). We show this by explicitly constructing the geometric monodromy of the new fibered knot.

In §9, we apply the techniques of fibered knots in S^5 to the study of isotopies of simply connected 4-manifolds with boundary. Quinn [72] has shown that two orientation preserving homeomorphisms of a closed simply connected 4-manifold are homotopic to each other if and only if their induced isomorphisms on the second homology group coincide (see also [17, §5]). Using this, Quinn has shown that the two homeomorphisms with the same isomorphism on the second homology group are actually topologically isotopic to each other. In this section, we use the variation maps of homeomorphisms which are the identity on the boundary and give some topological isotopy criterions (relative to boundary) for homeomorphisms of 1-connected 4-manifolds with boundary (Propositions 9.1 and 9.2). As to topological isotopies which may not fix the boundary points, we also obtain some results when the boundary 3-manifold is homeomorphic to a certain spherical 3-manifold (Proposition 9.7). We also obtain some smooth stable isotopy criterions for diffeomorphisms (Propositions 9.4 and 9.9).

In §10, we apply the techniques of fibered knots in S^5 to the embedding problem of simply connected 4-manifolds into S^6 . We first construct fibered knots with fiber constructed from a given 4-manifold and then use this fiber to construct a desired embedding. The main result is Theorem 10.4, which is a special case of Cappell-Shaneson's result [13]. Here, the result itself is not new; however, we have included this section, since the technique for the proof is new and creates interesting embeddings in some cases.

In §11, we apply our results to the study of the topology of isolated hypersurface singularities in \mathbb{C}^3 . For example, we show the following new results.

PROPOSITION 11.1. Let $f_t : \mathbf{C}^3, 0 \to \mathbf{C}, 0 \ (t \in [0,1])$ be a μ -constant deformation of an isolated singularity. Suppose that $H_1(K_{f_0}; \mathbf{Z}) \cong \mathbf{Z}/r\mathbf{Z}$, where $r = 1, 2, 4, p^m$ or $2p^m$ with p an odd prime. Furthermore we suppose that $\pi_1(K_{f_0}) \cong \pi_1(K_{f_1})$. Then the fibered knots K_{f_0} and K_{f_1} associated with the hypersurfaces $f_0^{-1}(0)$ and $f_1^{-1}(0)$ respectively are isotopic to each other.

PROPOSITION 11.4. Let $f \in \mathbf{C}[x, y, z]$ be a polynomial of three complex variables with f(0) = 0 and with an isolated critical point at the origin. We suppose that $H_1(K_f; \mathbf{Z}) \cong \mathbf{Z}/r\mathbf{Z}$, where $r = 1, 2, 4, p^m$ or $2p^m$ with p an odd prime. If f can be connected by a μ -constant deformation to a polynomial with real coefficients, then there exists a homeomorphism germ $\Phi : \mathbf{C}^3, 0 \to$ $\mathbf{C}^3, 0$ such that $\bar{f} = f \circ \Phi$ as germs at the origin, where $\bar{f} : \mathbf{C}^3, 0 \to \mathbf{C}, 0$ is the function defined by $\bar{f}(z) = \overline{f(z)}$ (the complex conjugate of $f(z) \in \mathbf{C}$). (In the terminology of [42], [77], f is right equivalent to \bar{f} .)

Note that Szczepanski [84] obtains some results about the topological constancy of μ -constant deformations in three complex variables. However, her arguments contain some essential gaps, mainly caused by ignoring the spin structures of 3-manifolds. We will explain this more in detail in Remark 11.3. Thus Proposition 11.1 is a new result, although it seems weaker compared with Szczepanski's results.

Throughout the paper, all the homology and cohomology groups are with integer coefficients unless otherwise specified. We use the symbol " \cong "

to denote a diffeomorphism between smooth manifolds or an appropriate isomorphism between algebraic objects.

The author would like to thank Dr. Eiji Ogasa for bringing Bayer-Fluckiger's paper [4] to his attention.

2. Isotopy Criterion

First we recall the definitions of simple fibered knots and their Seifert forms.

DEFINITION 2.1 ([21]). Let K be a smoothly embedded closed (2n-1)dimensional manifold in S^{2n+1} . Then K is called a *fibered* (2n-1)-knot if there exists a smooth fibration $\phi: S^{2n+1} - K \to S^1$ such that there exists a trivialization $\alpha: K \times D^2 \to N(K)$ of a tubular neighborhood N(K) of K in S^{2n+1} which makes the following diagram commutative, where p denotes the obvious projection:

(2.1)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} K \times (D^2 - \{0\}) & \stackrel{\alpha}{\longrightarrow} & N(K) - K \\ p \searrow & \swarrow \phi \\ S^1. \end{array}$$

Furthermore, the fibered knot K is simple if the fibers of ϕ are (n-1)-connected and K is (n-2)-connected.

In this paper, we always assume that fibered knots are simple. Thus in the following we omit the word "simple" for simplicity.

Note that an algebraic knot associated with a complex polynomial function with an isolated critical point is always fibered and is simple in the above sense [59].

Set $F = \overline{\phi^{-1}(1)} = \phi^{-1}(1) \cup K$ $(1 \in S^1)$. We call F a *fiber* of the fibered knot K. Note that F is a smooth 2*n*-dimensional compact manifold with $\partial F = K$. In other words, F can be regarded as a Seifert manifold of K in S^{2n+1} .

In the following, we assume that S^1 and S^{2n+1} are oriented. Note that then every fiber and its boundary K have canonical orientations. We define the bilinear form

(2.2)
$$\Gamma_K : H_n(F) \times H_n(F) \to \mathbf{Z}$$

by $\Gamma_K(x,y) = \operatorname{lk}(i_*x,y) \ (x,y \in H_n(F))$, where $i: F \to S^{2n+1} - F$ is the map defined by the translation in the positive normal direction (determined by the orientation of S^1) and "lk" denotes the linking number in S^{2n+1} . We call Γ_K the *Seifert form* of K. Furthermore a matrix representative of Γ_K is called a *Seifert matrix* of K. Here we note that $H_n(F)$ is always a finitely generated free abelian group, since F is (n-1)-connected. Note also that a Seifert matrix is always unimodular by virtue of the Alexander duality. Furthermore, it is known that the congruence class of the Seifert matrix is independent of the choice of a fibration $\phi: S^{2n+1} - K \to S^1$ and depends only on the oriented isotopy type of K in S^{2n+1} (see [54], [74]).

Consider the smooth fibration $\phi : S^{2n+1} - \operatorname{Int} N(K) \to S^1$, where we identify the fiber with F. Then a geometric monodromy $h : F \to F$ is defined up to isotopy relative to boundary; i.e., the total space is obtained from $F \times [0,1]$ by gluing $F \times \{1\}$ and $F \times \{0\}$ by h. Note that $h|_{\partial F}$ is the identity map by Definition 2.1. Then we define the variation map $\Delta_K : H_n(F, \partial F) \to H_n(F)$ as follows. For an element $\gamma \in H_n(F, \partial F)$, take an *n*-cycle $(D, \partial D)$ in $(F, \partial F)$ representing γ . Then $D \cup (-h(D))$ is an *n*cycle in F and we define $\Delta_K(\gamma)$ to be the class represented by $D \cup (-h(D))$. Note that this does not depend on the choice of $(D, \partial D)$ nor on h. In [37], it is shown that Δ_K is always an isomorphism and that giving the Seifert form is equivalent to giving the variation map.

Recall that if $n \ge 3$, two fibered (2n - 1)-knots are isotopic if and only if their Seifert matrices are congruent [21], [36]. When n = 2, we have the following isotopy criterion.

THEOREM 2.2. Let K_j (j = 0, 1) be fibered 3-knots with fiber F_j . Then the following five are equivalent.

- (1) The embedded 3-manifolds K_0 and K_1 are (orientation preservingly) isotopic in S^5 .
- (2) There exists a (orientation preserving) homeomorphism $\Psi : F_0 \to F_1$ satisfying $\Gamma_{K_1}(\Psi_*x, \Psi_*y) = \Gamma_{K_0}(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in H_2(F_0)$.
- (3) There exists a (orientation preserving) homeomorphism $\Psi: F_0 \to F_1$

which makes the following diagram commutative:

(2.3)
$$\begin{array}{cccc} H_2(F_0, \partial F_0) & \xrightarrow{\Delta_{K_0}} & H_2(F_0) \\ \Psi_* & & & \Psi_* \\ H_2(F_1, \partial F_1) & \xrightarrow{\Delta_{K_1}} & H_2(F_1). \end{array}$$

- (4) There exist a (orientation preserving) homeomorphism $\psi : K_0 \to K_1$ and an isomorphism $\Lambda : H_2(F_0) \to H_2(F_1)$ which satisfy the following properties (a), (b) and (c):
 - (a) The 4-manifold $F_0 \cup_{\psi} (-F_1)$ is a spin manifold, where $-F_1$ is the 4-manifold F_1 with the reversed orientation, and $F_0 \cup_{\psi} (-F_1)$ is the closed 4-manifold obtained from F_0 and $-F_1$ by attaching their boundaries by the homeomorphism ψ .
 - (b) The following diagram is commutative, where the two horizontal sequences are the exact sequences of the pairs (F_0, K_0) and (F_1, K_1) respectively and Λ^* is the adjoint of Λ with respect to the identification of $H_2(F_j, \partial F_j)$ with $\operatorname{Hom}(H_2(F_j), \mathbb{Z})$ arising from the Lefschetz duality:

(c) We have $\Gamma_{K_1}(\Lambda x, \Lambda y) = \Gamma_{K_0}(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in H_2(F_0)$.

- (5) There exist a (orientation preserving) homeomorphism $\psi : K_0 \to K_1$ and an isomorphism $\Lambda : H_2(F_0) \to H_2(F_1)$ which satisfy the properties (a), (b) above and (c') below:
 - (c') The following diagram is commutative:

To prove Theorem 2.2, we need some lemmas.

701

LEMMA 2.3. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold with connected boundary. Then for some nonnegative integer k, $F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ admits a handlebody decomposition without 3-handles.

PROOF. Since $(F, \partial F)$ is a 1-connected compact smooth 4-manifold (with connected boundary), there exists a nonnegative integer k such that $(F \natural k(S^2 \times D^2), \partial F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^1))$ admits a handlebody decomposition without 1-handles by [71]. Considering the dual handlebody decomposition, we see that $F' = F \natural k(S^2 \times D^2)$ admits a handlebody decomposition without 3handles. By attaching k 2-handles to F' appropriately, we get $F \natural k(S^2 \times S^2)^{\circ} \cong F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$, where $(S^2 \times S^2)^{\circ} = S^2 \times S^2 - \text{Int } D^4$. Hence $F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ admits a handlebody decomposition without 3-handles. This completes the proof. \Box

LEMMA 2.4. Let K_j (j = 0, 1) be fibered (2n - 1)-knots in S^{2n+1} with fiber F_j . Suppose that F_0 is orientation preservingly homeomorphic to F_1 and that the geometric monodromies of K_j are topologically pseudoisotopic relative to boundary. Then there exists an orientation preserving homeomorphism $\Phi: S^{2n+1} \to S^{2n+1}$ with $\Phi(F_0) = F_1$ and $\Phi \circ i_0 = i_1 \circ \Phi$ on F_0 , where $i_j: F_j \to S^{2n+1} - F_j$ are the maps used in the definition of the Seifert form.

PROOF. Let $h_j: F_j \to F_j$ be geometric monodromies of K_j (j = 0, 1). Since h_j are pseudoisotopic, there exists a homeomorphism $\Phi': F_0 \times I \to F_0 \times I$ (I = [0, 1]) such that $\Phi'(x, 0) = (h_0(x), 0)$ and $\Phi'(x, 1) = (\Psi^{-1} \circ h_1 \circ \Psi(x), 1)$ for all $x \in F_0$ and $\Phi'(y, t) = (y, t)$ for all $y \in \partial F_0$ and $t \in I$, where $\Psi: F_0 \to F_1$ is a homeomorphism which preserves the orientations. Then $(\Phi')^{-1}$ induces a homeomorphism

(2.6)
$$\Phi'': F_0 \times I/(x,1) \sim (h_0(x),0) \\ \to F_0 \times I/(x,1) \sim (\Psi^{-1} \circ h_1 \circ \Psi(x),0).$$

It is clear that Φ'' extends to a homeomorphism Φ of S^{2n+1} with the required properties. This completes the proof. \Box

LEMMA 2.5. Let K be a fibered (2n-1)-knot and $\phi_j : S^{2n+1} - K \to S^1$ (j = 0, 1) two smooth fibrations as in Definition 2.1 which are homotopic. Then there exists an orientation preserving homeomorphism $\Phi : S^{2n+1} \to S^{2n+1}$

 S^{2n+1} with $\Phi(F_0) = F_1$ and $\Phi \circ i_0 = i_1 \circ \Phi$ on F_0 , where F_j is a fiber of ϕ_j and $i_j : F_j \to S^{2n+1} - F_j$ is the map used in the definition of the Seifert form.

REMARK 2.6. Note that there exist exactly two homotopy classes of fibration maps $S^{2n+1} - K \to S^1$, since $H^1(S^{2n+1} - K)$ is isomorphic to **Z** and that there exist exactly two choices for a generator. The two homotopy classes correspond to the two orientations of S^1 .

PROOF OF LEMMA 2.5. When n = 1, the result is well-known. For $n \geq 2$, by considering the universal cover \tilde{E} of $E = S^{2n+1} - \operatorname{Int} N(K)$, we see that there exists a smooth *h*-cobordism *W* between F_0 and F_1 embedded in $\tilde{E} \cong F_0 \times \mathbf{R} \cong F_1 \times \mathbf{R}$. Note that the *h*-cobordism *W* has a product structure on the boundary, since the trivialization α as in Definition 2.1 is unique up to homotopy. Then using a result of Freedman [23] when n = 2 and the *h*-cobordism theorem of Smale [82] when $n \geq 3$, we see that F_j are orientation preservingly homeomorphic to each other. Furthermore, using Wall's construction [89, p.140], we can show that the geometric monodromies of ϕ_j are pseudoisotopic relative to boundary (for a precise argument, see [49] or [68, §3].) Now the result follows from Lemma 2.4. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 2.7. Using the pseudoisotopy theorem of Cerf [14] $(n \ge 3)$ or Perron [69] and Quinn [72] (n = 2), we see that the geometric monodromies of ϕ_i are actually topologically isotopic relative to boundary.

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.2. $(1) \implies (2)$: This is an immediate consequence of Lemma 2.5.

(2) \implies (4): Set $\psi = \Psi|_{\partial F_0}$ and $\Lambda = \Psi_* : H_2(F_0) \to H_2(F_1)$. Then they obviously satisfy the conditions (b) and (c) in (4). The fact that they also satisfy (a) follows from [9].

(4) \implies (1): It is well-known that $x \cdot y = \Gamma_{K_j}(x, y) + \Gamma_{K_j}(y, x)$ for all $x, y \in H_2(F_j)$, where $x \cdot y$ denotes the intersection number of x and y in F_j (for example, see [21], [36]). Thus $\Lambda : H_2(F_0) \to H_2(F_1)$ preserves the intersection pairings of F_j . Hence there exists a homeomorphism from F_0 to F_1 which induces Λ and which coincides with ψ on ∂F_0 by [9]. In fact, there exists a smooth h-cobordism W between F_0 and F_1 such that the composite

map

(2.7)
$$H_2(F_0) \xrightarrow{(\iota_0)_*} H_2(W) \xrightarrow{(\iota_1)_*^{-1}} H_2(F_1)$$

coincides with Λ , where $\iota_j : F_j \to W$ are the inclusion maps (see [9, p.347]). Then by [50], [71], $W \sharp_c k(S^2 \times S^2 \times I)$ is diffeomorphic to the product $(F_0 \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)) \times I$ for some nonnegative integer k, where \sharp_c denotes a connected sum along cobordisms. Hence there exists a diffeomorphism $\tilde{\Psi} : F_0 \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2) \to F_1 \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ such that $\tilde{\Psi}_* = \Lambda \oplus$ id with respect to the decomposition $H_2(F_j \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)) \cong H_2(F_j) \oplus H_2(\sharp^k(S^2 \times S^2))$. Since we can perform the connected sum operation of $S^2 \times S^2$ in S^5 , we obtain Seifert manifolds \tilde{F}_j of K_j and a diffeomorphism $\tilde{\Psi} : \tilde{F}_0 \to \tilde{F}_1$ which preserves the Seifert forms. By Lemma 2.3 we may further assume that \tilde{F}_j have handle-body decompositions without 3-handles. Then by the same argument as in [54, §§18–20], we can smoothly isotope \tilde{F}_0 to \tilde{F}_1 in S^5 . Thus K_0 is isotopic to K_1 .

(2) \iff (3) and (4) \iff (5): These are obvious in view of the fact that the Seifert form is essentially the same as the variation map [37]. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 2.8. (1) We call a smoothly embedded (closed connected orientable) 3-manifold K in S^5 an almost fibered knot if there exists a topological (not necessarily smooth) fibration $\phi : S^5 - K \to S^1$ satisfying the condition in Definition 2.1 and with simply connected fibers such that at least one of the fibers F of ϕ is smooth and smoothly embedded in S^5 (such a fiber F is called an *almost fiber*). Then Theorem 2.2 also holds for almost fibered 3-knots.

(2) If $H_*(K_j; \mathbf{Q}) \cong H_*(S^3; \mathbf{Q})$, then in Theorem 2.2 (4) and (5) the condition (a) can be omitted (see [9, (0.8) Proposition]).

(3) If $H_1(K_j)$ are torsion free, then the diagram (2.4) in Theorem 2.2 (4)(b) and (5)(b) can be replaced by

The remaining commutativity is obtained from the above one by using the Lefschetz duality and the universal coefficient theorem.

As a corollary to Theorem 2.2, we get further isotopy criterions as follows.

COROLLARY 2.9. For fibered 3-knots K_j (j = 0, 1), the following three are equivalent.

- (1) The embedded 3-manifolds K_0 and K_1 are (orientation preservingly) isotopic in S^5 .
- (2) The pair (S^5, K_0) is (orientation preservingly) homeomorphic to the pair (S^5, K_1) .
- (3) The fibers of K_j are (orientation preservingly) homeomorphic and the geometric monodromies of K_j are homotopic relative to boundary.

PROOF. $(1) \Longrightarrow (2)$: This is obvious.

 $(2) \implies (3)$: This can be proved by the same argument as in [68]. See also the proof of Lemma 2.5.

(3) \implies (1): By [72], the geometric monodromies of K_j are topologically pseudoisotopic relative to boundary. Then by Lemma 2.4 there exists an orientation preserving homeomorphism $\Phi : S^5 \to S^5$ with $\Phi(F_0) = F_1$ and $\Phi \circ i_0 = i_1 \circ \Phi$. The homeomorphism $\Psi = \Phi|_{F_0}$ clearly preserves the Seifert forms. Thus by Theorem 2.2, K_0 and K_1 are isotopic to each other. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 2.10. In the other dimensions, an analogue of the above corollary ((1) \iff (2)) is also true; i.e., two fibered (2n - 1)-knots K_j (j = 0, 1) are isotopic to each other if and only if (S^{2n+1}, K_0) is orientation preservingly homeomorphic to (S^{2n+1}, K_1) . For n = 1, this is a well-known fact. For $n \ge 3$ we can prove this using the topological *h*-cobordism theorem [44] and a result of Durfee [21] and Kato [36] (see the proof of Lemma 2.5. See also [77, Lemma 5]).

As we shall see in §3, a fibered 3-knot is not always determined by the homeomorphism type of the embedded 3-manifold together with the congruence class of a Seifert matrix. However, in the following special cases these invariants do determine the isotopy type.

DEFINITION 2.11. Let Σ be a closed connected orientable 3-manifold. If a fibered 3-knot K is homeomorphic to Σ as an abstract 3-manifold, then we say that K is a *fibered* Σ -knot (see [75]).

THEOREM 2.12. Let Σ be one of the following 3-manifolds.

- (1) $H_1(\Sigma) \cong \mathbf{Z}/r\mathbf{Z}$, where $r = 1, 2, 4, p^m$ or $2p^m$ with p an odd prime.
- (2) $\Sigma = \sharp^k (S^2 \times S^1)$ for some positive integer k.

Then two fibered Σ -knots are isotopic if and only if their Seifert matrices are congruent.

PROOF. First assume that $H_1(\Sigma) \cong \mathbf{Z}/r\mathbf{Z}$ as in (1). Let K_j (j = 0, 1) be fibered Σ -knots with congruent Seifert matrices. Thus there exists an isomorphism $\Lambda : H_2(F_0) \to H_2(F_1)$ which preserves the Seifert forms, where F_j is the fiber of K_j . Then there exists a unique isomorphism $\alpha : H_1(K_0) \to H_1(K_1)$ which makes the following diagram commutative:

Note that α preserves the linking pairings on $H_1(K_j)$. Using our hypothesis, we can easily deduce that $\alpha = \pm 1$ (see [9, (1.9) Corollary]). Replacing Λ by $-\Lambda$ if necessary, we may assume that $\alpha = 1$. (Note that $-\Lambda$ also preserves the Seifert forms.) Thus α is realized by a homeomorphism (e.g., the identity map). By Theorem 2.2 and Remark 2.8 (2), K_0 is isotopic to K_1 .

Next we assume that $\Sigma = S^2 \times S^1$. Let K_j (j = 0, 1) be fibered Σ knots with congruent Seifert matrices. Thus there exists an isomorphism $\Lambda : H_2(F_0) \to H_2(F_1)$ which preserves the Seifert forms. Then there exists a unique isomorphism α which makes the following diagram commutative:

Since $H_2(K_j) \cong \mathbb{Z}$, α is realized by a homeomorphism $\psi : K_0 \to K_1$. Let $\tau : S^2 \times S^1 \to S^2 \times S^1$ be the homeomorphism defined by $\tau(u, v) = (uv, v)$,

where we identify S^2 with the Riemann sphere $\overline{\mathbf{C}} = \mathbf{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ and S^1 with the unit circle in \mathbf{C} . Note that τ acts on $H_*(S^2 \times S^1)$ trivially. Replacing ψ by $\tau \circ \psi$ if necessary, we may assume that $F_0 \cup_{\psi} (-F_1)$ is a spin manifold (see [9]). Then by Theorem 2.2 and Remark 2.8 (3), K_0 is isotopic to K_1 .

The general case where $\Sigma = \sharp^k(S^2 \times S^1)$ is proved similarly. All we need in addition is that every automorphism of $H_2(\sharp^k(S^2 \times S^1))$ is realized by a homeomorphism, which can be proved by using the fact that $\sharp^k(S^2 \times S^1)$ is diffeomorphic to the boundary of $\natural^k(S^2 \times D^2)$ and by using the techniques of handle-sliding (see [24, proof of Lemma 4] or [48, p.81]). This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 2.13. When $H_1(\Sigma) = 0$, the above theorem has been proved in [54], [74].

We have discussed isotopy criterions for fibered 3-knots and have not mentioned their existence. In fact, there exist plenty of fibered 3-knots. For example, every closed connected orientable 3-manifold can be embedded in S^5 as a fibered 3-knot [74]. It seems worthwhile to recall here some methods of constructing fibered 3-knots. We have the algebraic construction [59], the open book construction [37], [74], the cyclic suspension of classical fibered knots [63], and the stabilization of almost fibered 3-knots [75]. Furthermore, almost fibered 3-knots can be constructed by Kervaire's method [41, Chap. II, §6]. We also have plumbing of two fibered 3-knots, which will be discussed later in §8. In the following sections, we often use these methods in order to construct desired fibered 3-knots.

3. Seifert Matrix Does Not Necessarily Determine the Isotopy Type

In §2 we have shown that for certain 3-manifolds Σ , the congruence class of a Seifert matrix is a complete invariant for a fibered Σ -knot. However, this is not the case in general. In this section we give two kinds of such examples.

THEOREM 3.1. Let Σ be a nontrivial orientable S^1 -bundle over the closed orientable surface of genus $g \geq 2$. Then for every positive integer

n, there exist fibered Σ -knots K_1, \ldots, K_n with diffeomorphic fibers and congruent Seifert matrices such that K_i and K_j $(i \neq j)$ are not isotopic to each other.

PROOF. Let $e \in \mathbb{Z}$ be the Euler number of the S^1 -bundle Σ . We assume that e > 0. (The case where e < 0 can be treated similarly.) Then the special handlebody F' whose framed link representation is given in Fig. 1 satisfies $\partial F' \cong \Sigma$, where a *special handlebody* is a handlebody consisting of one 0-handle and some 2-handles attached to the 0-handle simultaneously. This is proved as follows. Let N be the D^2 -bundle over the closed orientable surface Σ_g of genus g with Euler number e. Note that $\partial N \cong \Sigma$. Then N is diffeomorphic to the 4-manifold

(3.1)
$$((\Sigma_g - \operatorname{Int} D^2) \times D^2) \cup_h (-D^2 \times D^2),$$

where $h: S^1 \times D^2 \to S^1 \times D^2$ is the diffeomorphism defined by $h(t,s) = (t, t^e s)$ and we identify S^1 and D^2 with $\{z \in \mathbf{C} : |z| = 1\}$ and $\{z \in \mathbf{C} : |z| \le 1\}$ respectively. Hence N admits a handlebody decomposition consisting of one 0-handle, 2g 1-handles, and one 2-handle. Thus N is represented by the first picture of Fig. 2, where each pair of small 3-balls with the same index



Figure 1.



Figure 2.

denotes the attaching disks of a 1-handle. After proceeding as indicated in Fig. 2, consider the last framed link and blow down the (+1)-circle. Then the resulting framed link is as in Fig. 1.

Let $\pi : \Sigma \to \Sigma_g$ be the given S^1 -bundle projection. Note that $H_1(\Sigma) \cong (\oplus^{2g} \mathbf{Z}) \oplus (\mathbf{Z}/e\mathbf{Z})$ and that $\pi_* : H_1(\Sigma) \to H_1(\Sigma_g)$ is surjective. Let a_i, b_i $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, g)$ be a basis of $H_1(\Sigma_g)$ with $a_i \cdot b_j = \delta_{ij}$ and $a_i \cdot a_j = b_i \cdot b_j = 0$, where "." denotes the intersection number in Σ_g and

(3.2)
$$\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Then there exists a basis a'_i, b'_i (i = 1, 2, ..., g) of the free part of $H_1(\Sigma)$ such that $\pi_*(a'_i) = a_i$ and $\pi_*(b'_i) = b_i$. Let \bar{a}_i, \bar{b}_i (i = 1, 2, ..., g) be the basis of $H_2(\Sigma)$ Poincaré dual to a'_i, b'_i . Since the inclusion induces an injection $H_2(\Sigma) \to H_2(F')$ $(\partial F' = \Sigma)$, we identify \bar{a}_i, \bar{b}_i with the corresponding elements of $H_2(F')$.

Let J_j (j = 1, 2, ..., n) be unimodular skew-symmetric $2g \times 2g$ integral matrices, which will be given later. (Note that any two such matrices are congruent to each other over the integers.) Let R be the unimodular $(e - 1) \times (e - 1)$ matrix given by

(3.3)
$$R = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -1 & \cdots & -1 \\ & -1 & \cdots & -1 \\ & & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & & & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Set $L'_j = J_j \oplus R$, then L'_j is unimodular and $L'_j + {}^tL'_j$ is the intersection matrix of F' with respect to a suitable basis of $H_2(F')$ which extends $\{\bar{a}_1, \ldots, \bar{a}_g, \bar{b}_1, \ldots, \bar{b}_g\}$. Using the argument of Kervaire [41], we can construct an embedding $\xi_j : F' \to S^5$ whose Seifert matrix coincides with L'_j . Set $K'_j = \xi_j (\partial F')$, then K'_j is an almost fibered 3-knot. Let K_S be a stabilizer defined in [75]; i.e., K_S is a fibered 3-knot whose fiber is diffeomorphic to $(S^2 \times S^2 \sharp S^2 \times S^2)^{\circ} (= (S^2 \times S^2 \sharp S^2 \times S^2) - \operatorname{Int} D^4)$. Then $K_j = K'_j \sharp k K_S$ are smoothly fibered 3-knots for some nonnegative integer k [75]. (Note that we can take k uniformly for all K'_1, \ldots, K'_n .) Note that K_j is diffeomorphic to Σ and that the fiber is diffeomorphic to $F = F' \sharp 2k(S^2 \times S^2)$. Furthermore, we see easily that the Seifert matrices of K_1, \ldots, K_n are all congruent.

Let P be a unimodular matrix which gives the congruence between L_i and L_j ; i.e., ${}^{t}PL_iP = L_j$, where L_i and L_j are the Seifert matrices of K_i and K_j respectively. Note that $L_i = J_i \oplus R \oplus L_S$ and $L_j = J_j \oplus R \oplus L_S$, where L_S is a Seifert matrix of $\sharp^k K_S$. We need the following lemma.

LEMMA 3.2. Let Q_i be $m \times m$ skew-symmetric nonsingular integral matrices and R_i $n \times n$ integral matrices such that $R_i + {}^tR_i$ are nonsingular (i = 1, 2). Suppose that there exists an $(m + n) \times (m + n)$ nonsingular matrix P such that ${}^{t}P(Q_1 \oplus R_1)P = Q_2 \oplus R_2$. Then $P = P_1 \oplus P_2$, where P_1 (resp. P_2) is an $m \times m$ (resp. $n \times n$) nonsingular integral matrix such that ${}^{t}P_{1}Q_{1}P_{1} = Q_{2} \ (resp. \ {}^{t}P_{2}R_{1}P_{2} = R_{2}).$

PROOF. Set

(3.4)
$$P = \begin{pmatrix} P_1 & P_3 \\ P_4 & P_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where the sizes of P_1, P_2, P_3 and P_4 are $m \times m, n \times n, m \times n$ and $n \times m$ respectively. Then we have

$$(3.5) \qquad \begin{pmatrix} {}^{t}P_{1} & {}^{t}P_{4} \\ {}^{t}P_{3} & {}^{t}P_{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Q_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & R_{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} P_{1} & P_{3} \\ P_{4} & P_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Q_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & R_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Adding the transpose of the above equation to itself, we obtain

$$(3.6) \qquad \begin{pmatrix} {}^{t}P_{1} {}^{t}P_{4} \\ {}^{t}P_{3} {}^{t}P_{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & R_{1} + {}^{t}R_{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} P_{1} {}^{t}P_{3} \\ P_{4} {}^{t}P_{2} \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} {}^{t}P_{4}(R_{1} + {}^{t}R_{1})P_{4} {}^{t}P_{4}(R_{1} + {}^{t}R_{1})P_{2} \\ {}^{t}P_{2}(R_{1} + {}^{t}R_{1})P_{4} {}^{t}P_{2}(R_{1} + {}^{t}R_{1})P_{2} \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & R_{2} + {}^{t}R_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since $R_i + {}^tR_i$ are nonsingular, we see that P_2 is nonsingular and we have $P_4 = 0$. Therefore we see that P_1 is nonsingular by (3.4). Then by (3.5), we have

(3.7)
$$\begin{pmatrix} {}^{t}P_{1}Q_{1}P_{1} & {}^{t}P_{1}Q_{1}P_{3} \\ {}^{t}P_{3}Q_{1}P_{1} & {}^{t}P_{3}Q_{1}P_{3} + {}^{t}P_{2}R_{1}P_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Q_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & R_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then we see that $P_3 = 0$. This completes the proof. \Box

We note that the above lemma has an interesting consequence about the cancellation of certain fibered 3-knots. See $\S7$.

Let us go back to the proof of Theorem 3.1. By the above lemma, we see that P is of the form $P_0 \oplus P_1$ with ${}^tP_0J_iP_0 = J_j$.

Now suppose that K_i and K_j $(i \neq j)$ are isotopic to each other. Then by Theorem 2.2, there exists a homeomorphism $\psi : K_j \to K_i$ which makes the following diagram commutative:

Note that ψ_* is identified with P_0 with respect to the basis $\{\bar{a}_1, \ldots, \bar{a}_g, \bar{b}_1, \ldots, \bar{b}_g\}$. Since $g \geq 2$, by Waldhausen [86], we may assume that there exists a homeomorphism $\bar{\psi} : \Sigma_g \to \Sigma_g$ which makes the following diagram commutative:

(3.9)
$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Sigma & \xrightarrow{\psi} & \Sigma \\ \pi & & & \pi \\ \Sigma_g & \xrightarrow{\bar{\psi}} & \Sigma_g. \end{array}$$

Since $(\bar{\psi})_*$ on $H_1(\Sigma_g)$ preserves the intersection paring on Σ_g , we have ${}^t\!QJQ = J$, where

$$(3.10) J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -I & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

I is the $g \times g$ unit matrix, and Q is the matrix representative of $(\bar{\psi})_*$ on $H_1(\Sigma_g)$ with respect to the basis $\{a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g\}$. Using Poincaré duality and the universal coefficient theorem, we see easily that $\psi_* = P_0$ on $H_2(\Sigma)$ is identified with ${}^tQ^{-1}$. Hence we have $P_0^{-1}J{}^tP_0^{-1} = J$. This implies that ${}^tP_0JP_0 = J$.

DEFINITION 3.3. Let A and B be unimodular skew-symmetric $2g \times 2g$ integral matrices. We say that A and B are *equivalent* (denoted by $A \sim B$), if there exists a unimodular matrix C such that ${}^{t}CAC = B$ and ${}^{t}CJC = J$, where J is the matrix as in (3.10). Note that this is an equivalence relation.

Thus, in order to prove Theorem 3.1, we have only to show that there exist infinitely may equivalence classes in the above sense.

For a unimodular skew-symmetric $2g \times 2g$ integral matrix A, define $\varepsilon_A(t) = \det(tJ - A)$, which is an element of $\mathbf{Z}[t]$.

LEMMA 3.4. If $A \sim B$, then $\varepsilon_A(t) = \varepsilon_B(t)$.

PROOF. Let C be a matrix as in Definition 3.3. Then we have

(3.11)
$$\varepsilon_B(t) = \det(tJ - B)$$
$$= \det(tJ - {}^tCAC)$$
$$= \det({}^tC(tJ - A)C)$$
$$= \det(tJ - A)$$
$$= \varepsilon_A(t).$$

This completes the proof. \Box

For a given sequence of integers $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{g-1}$, set

(3.12)
$$X = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & -\alpha_0 \\ 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & -\alpha_1 \\ & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & -\alpha_2 \\ & & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & & & 1 & 0 & -\alpha_{g-2} \\ 0 & & & & 1 & -\alpha_{g-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

Then we can show the following by an induction argument.

LEMMA 3.5.

(3.13)
$$\det(tI - X) = t^g + \alpha_{g-1}t^{g-1} + \dots + \alpha_1 t + \alpha_0.$$

Setting

(3.14)
$$J_j = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & X \\ -tX & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with $\alpha_0 = 1$, we see that J_j is a unimodular skew-symmetric $2g \times 2g$ integral matrix and that

(3.15)
$$\varepsilon_{J_j}(t) = (t^g + \alpha_{g-1}t^{g-1} + \dots + \alpha_1 t + 1)^2.$$

Thus, varying $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{g-1}$, we obtain infinitely many unimodular skewsymmetric $2g \times 2g$ integral matrices which are not equivalent to each other in the sense of Definition 3.3 by Lemmas 3.4 and 3.5, since $g \ge 2$. This completes the proof of Theorem 3.1. \Box

REMARK 3.6. We do not know if there exist *infinitely many* smoothly fibered Σ -knots with congruent Seifert matrices such that they are not isotopic to each other for some Σ . This is true if we can find a uniform integer k as in the above proof for all K_i (i = 1, 2, ...). See [50], [71], [26]. Note that we can find infinitely many distinct *almost fibered* Σ -knots with congruent Seifert matrices.

REMARK 3.7. Let K and K' be fibered 3-knots with isomorphic Seifert forms. Then the *n*-fold cyclic suspensions of K and K', which are fibered 5-knots in S^7 , are isotopic to each other for all positive integer n, since they have isomorphic Seifert forms (see [63]). In particular, the *n*-fold cyclic branched covering spaces of S^5 branched along K and K' are diffeomorphic to each other for all n, although K and K' may not be isotopic to each other as has been seen in Theorem 3.1. Compare this with the case of prime knots in S^3 , where two such knots are equivalent if and only if the *n*-fold cyclic branched covering spaces of S^3 branched along the knots are homeomorphic for infinitely many n (see [46]).

Next we give an example which shows that the Seifert matrix does not determine even the homeomorphism type of the fiber, nor the isotopy type of a fibered 3-knot.

PROPOSITION 3.8. Let Σ be the trivial S^1 -bundle over the closed orientable surface of genus $g \geq 2$. Then there exist two fibered Σ -knots with congruent Seifert matrices but with nonhomeomorphic fibers.

By Theorem 2.2 these fibered Σ -knots are not isotopic to each other.

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 3.8. Let F_0 be the special handlebody whose framed link representation is given in Fig. 3. It is easy to see that ∂F_0 is diffeomorphic to Σ (see the proof of Theorem 3.1). Let \mathcal{F}_0 be the almost framing on $\partial F_0 = \Sigma$ induced by that on F_0 . Let \mathcal{F}_1 be the almost framing on $\partial F_0 = \Sigma$ which is the same framing on \mathcal{F}_0 except on γ_{2q+1} , where γ_{2q+1} is



Figure 3.



Figure 4.

the homology class in $H_1(\partial F_0; \mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z})$ represented by a meridian loop around the component l_{2g+1} (see Fig. 3). Recall that the almost framings on ∂F_0 are in one-to-one correspondence with the elements of $H^1(\partial F_0; \mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z})$. Then, for $(\partial F_0, \mathcal{F}_1)$, the one component link l_{2g+1} is characteristic in the sense of Kaplan [35]. If we apply Kaplan's algorithm to kill the characteristic sublink without changing the boundary, then we get the framed handlebody F_1 whose framed link representation is given in Fig. 4. Note that the almost framing \mathcal{F}_1 is the restriction to ∂F_1 of that on F_1 and that F_j have the same intersection matrix.

We show that F_0 is not homeomorphic to F_1 . If F_0 is homeomorphic to F_1 , then by [9], there exists a homeomorphism $\psi : \partial F_0 \to \partial F_1$ such that $F_0 \cup_{\psi} (-F_1)$ is a spin 4-manifold. Thus $\psi_{\sharp}(\mathcal{F}_0) = \mathcal{F}_1$. (For the definition of $\psi_{\sharp}(\mathcal{F}_0)$, see [9, (2.3)]. Note that almost framings on Σ are identified with spin structures on Σ in the sense of Boyer [9].) We may assume that ψ preserves the fibers of the trivial fibration $\Sigma \to \Sigma_g$ by [86]. Then it is easy to show that $\psi_{\sharp}(\mathcal{F}_0)$ is different from \mathcal{F}_1 on $\gamma_{2g+1} \in H_1(\Sigma; \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$, since γ_{2g+1} coincides with the class represented by a fiber of $\Sigma \to \Sigma_g$. Thus F_0 is not homeomorphic to F_1 .

Since taking connected sum with the spin 4-manifold $S^2 \times S^2$ does not change the almost framing on the boundary, we see that $F_0 \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ is not homeomorphic to $F_1 \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ for any nonnegative integer k.

Since the intersection forms of F_j are isomorphic, we obtain two fibered Σ -knots with the same Seifert matrix and with fibers $F_j \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ for some even integer k, using the technique of the stabilization of almost fibered knots as in [75]. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 3.9. We do not know if F_0 and F_1 above are homotopy equivalent relative to boundary.

In all the above examples, the first homology groups of the embedded 3-manifolds are infinite. In the case of rational homology 3-spheres, we have the following example.

Example 3.10. Let V_1 (resp. V_2) be the special handlebody consisting of one 0-handle and one 2-handle attached along the torus knot of type (3, 19) (resp. (5, 11)) with the framing 56. By [61], ∂V_i are (orientation preservingly) diffeomorphic to the lens space $L(56, 9) \cong L(56, 25)$. We fix a diffeomorphism $\partial V_1 \cong \partial V_2 \cong L(56, 9)$. Let $\gamma_i \in H_2(V_i, \partial V_i) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ be generators. Then it is not difficult to show that $\partial \gamma_1 = 19\alpha$ and $\partial \gamma_2 = 5\alpha$ for some generator $\alpha \in H_1(L(56, 9)) \cong \mathbb{Z}/56\mathbb{Z}$. It is known that there exists no homeomorphism of L(56, 9) whose induced isomorphism on $H_1(L(56, 9))$ maps 5α to 19α (for example, see [8], [33]). Thus V_1 is not homeomorphic to V_2 . By a similar argument, we can show that $V_1 \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ is not homeomorphic to $V_2 \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ for every nonnegative integer k. Now, using the technique developed in [74, §6], we can construct, for some k, fibered

3-knots K_i (i = 1, 2) with fiber $V_i \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ and with congruent Seifert matrices. By Theorem 2.2 these fibered 3-knots are not isotopic to each other. Note that r = 56 does not satisfy the condition in Theorem 2.12 (1).

4. Reflexivity of Fibered 3-Knots

Let K be a 3-manifold embedded in S^5 . Set $E(K) = S^5 - \operatorname{Int} N(K)$, where N(K) is a tubular neighborhood of K in S^5 . We call E(K) the exterior of K. We say that K is reflexive if every embedding K' of the 3-manifold in S^5 with exterior diffeomorphic to that of K is isotopic to K. Note that when the embedded 3-manifold is diffeomorphic to S^3 , it is known that there exist at most two embeddings with diffeomorphic exteriors (for example, see [54, §22]). Here the terminology "reflexive" comes from this fact, although for general 3-manifolds we may have more than two such embeddings, as will be seen in Theorem 4.6.

In [12], Cappell and Shaneson have shown that there exist infinitely many nonreflexive spherical 3-knots in S^5 . (For the case of classical knots in S^3 , see [28].) On the other hand, Levine [54, §22] has shown that every simple fibered spherical 3-knot is reflexive. In this section, we show that certain (nonspherical) fibered 3-knots are reflexive (in fact, they are completely determined by the homotopy type of their complements). We also give some examples of nonreflexive fibered 3-knots.

In order to obtain some results on the reflexivity of fibered 3-knots, we consider the following classes of closed orientable 3-manifolds Σ and Σ' .

- (I) Σ is of the form $\Sigma = \Sigma_1 \sharp \cdots \sharp \Sigma_r$, where each Σ_i is either $S^1 \times S^2$ or a Haken 3-manifold (i.e., irreducible and sufficiently large [87]). Σ' does not contain any compact contractible 3-dimensional submanifold which is not diffeomorphic to the standard 3-ball (i.e., it contains no fake 3-cell).
- (II) Σ is a Seifert fibered space with infinite π_1 and Σ' is irreducible.
- (III) Σ and Σ' are hyperbolic 3-manifolds.
- (IV) Σ is a hyperbolic 3-manifold which contains an embedded hyperbolic tube of radius $(\log 3)/2 = 0.549306\cdots$ about a closed geodesic and Σ' is irreducible (see [25]).

Note that for each pair of closed orientable 3-manifolds Σ and Σ' as above the following holds: every homotopy equivalence $\psi : \Sigma' \to \Sigma$ is homotopic to a homeomorphism. See [87], [48], [80], [66], [67], [62], [25] and [68, Lemme 9].

THEOREM 4.1. Suppose that Σ and Σ' are a closed orientable 3-manifold pair as in (I), (II), (III), or (IV) described above and that $H_1(\Sigma; \mathbf{Q}) = 0 = H_1(\Sigma'; \mathbf{Q})$. Let K_0 be a fibered Σ -knot and K_1 a fibered Σ' -knot. Then K_0 is isotopic to K_1 if and only if $(E_0, \partial E_0)$ is orientation preservingly homotopy equivalent to $(E_1, \partial E_1)$, where $E_j = S^5 - \text{Int } N(K_j)$ (j = 0, 1).

PROOF. Suppose that $(E_0, \partial E_0)$ is orientation preservingly homotopy equivalent to $(E_1, \partial E_1)$. Let $\pi_j : (\tilde{E}_j, \partial \tilde{E}_j) \to (E_j, \partial E_j)$ be the infinite cyclic coverings induced by the fibrations (j = 0, 1). Since $(E_0, \partial E_0)$ is homotopy equivalent to $(E_1, \partial E_1)$, there exists a homotopy equivalence $\lambda :$ $(\tilde{E}_0, \partial \tilde{E}_0) \to (\tilde{E}_1, \partial \tilde{E}_1)$. Note that $(\tilde{E}_j, \partial \tilde{E}_j)$ is diffeomorphic to $(F_j, \partial F_j) \times$ **R**. Set $\bar{\lambda} = r_1 \circ \lambda \circ \iota_0$, where $\iota_0 : (F_0, \partial F_0) \to (\tilde{E}_0, \partial \tilde{E}_0)$ is an inclusion map and $r_1 : (\tilde{E}_1, \partial \tilde{E}_1) \to (F_1, \partial F_1)$ is a natural retraction map. Furthermore let $h_j : (F_j, \partial F_j) \to (F_j, \partial F_j)$ be the geometric monodromy of K_j . Then the following diagram is commutative up to homotopy:

(4.1)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} (F_0, \partial F_0) & \xrightarrow{h_0} & (F_0, \partial F_0) \\ \bar{\lambda} & & \bar{\lambda} \\ (F_1, \partial F_1) & \xrightarrow{h_1} & (F_1, \partial F_1). \end{array}$$

Thus the homotopy equivalence $\overline{\lambda}$ preserves the intersection forms and the algebraic monodromies. Let S_j , H_j and L_j be the intersection matrix for F_j , the monodromy matrix for K_j and the Seifert matrix of K_j respectively with respect to a fixed basis of $H_2(F_j)$. Then by [21], [36], we have $L_j(I - H_j) = S_j$, where I is the unit matrix. On the other hand, we have $\det(I - H_j) \neq 0$, since $H_1(K_j; \mathbf{Q}) = 0$. Hence we have $L_j = S_j(I - H_j)^{-1}$. Thus $\overline{\lambda}$ also induces an isomorphism on the second homology group which preserves the Seifert forms.

By our hypothesis on Σ and Σ' , we see that K_0 is homeomorphic to K_1 and that the homotopy equivalence $\bar{\lambda}|_{K_0} : K_0 \to K_1$ is homotopic to a homeomorphism. Thus, changing $\bar{\lambda}$ homotopically if necessary, we may assume that $\bar{\lambda}|_{K_0}$ is a homeomorphism. Then by Theorem 2.2, K_0 is isotopic

to K_1 (see also Remark 2.8 (2)). The converse is trivial. This completes the proof. \Box

COROLLARY 4.2. Let Σ be a closed orientable 3-manifold as in (I), (II) or (III) described just before Theorem 4.1 and suppose that $H_1(\Sigma; \mathbf{Q}) = 0$. Then every fibered Σ -knot is reflexive.

As a corollary to the above result, we obtain the following.

COROLLARY 4.3. Let Σ and Σ' be a closed orientable 3-manifold pair as in (I), (II), (III), or (IV) and suppose that $H_1(\Sigma; \mathbf{Q}) = 0 = H_1(\Sigma'; \mathbf{Q})$. Let K_0 be a fibered Σ -knot, K_1 a fibered Σ' -knot and $\phi_i : S^5 - K_i \to S^1$ the fibrations as in Definition 2.1 (i = 0, 1). Suppose that there exists an (orientation preserving) embedding $\theta : E(K_0) \to E(K_1)$ which makes the following diagram commutative:

(4.2)
$$E(K_0) \xrightarrow{\theta} E(K_1)$$
$$\phi_0 \searrow \swarrow \phi_1$$
$$S^1.$$

Furthermore, we assume that $F_1 - \operatorname{Int} \theta(F_0)$ is an h-cobordism between ∂F_1 and $\theta(\partial F_0)$, where F_i is the fiber of $\phi_i : E(K_i) \to S^1$ over $1 \in S^1$. Then K_0 and K_1 are isotopic to each other.

PROOF. Under the hypothesis, it is not difficult to show that $(E(K_0), \partial E(K_0))$ and $(E(K_1), \partial E(K_1))$ are orientation preservingly homotopy equivalent. Then the result follows directly from Theorem 4.1. \Box

Compare Corollary 4.3 with the corresponding higher dimensional result (for example, see the proof of [52, Lemma 2.2]).

REMARK 4.4. In Theorem 4.1, the hypothesis on the first homology group is essential. See the example below (Theorem 4.6).

REMARK 4.5. For $n \geq 3$, every simple fibered (2n-1)-knot K satisfying $H_*(K; \mathbf{Q}) \cong H_*(S^{2n-1}; \mathbf{Q})$ is reflexive. This can be proved by using the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 4.1 together with the fact that

K is simply connected (see also $[54, \S22]$). We do not know if this is true without the assumption on the homology group.

Next we give examples of nonreflexive fibered 3-knots.

THEOREM 4.6. Let Σ be a nontrivial orientable S^1 -bundle over the closed orientable surface of genus $g \geq 2$. Then there exist simple fibered knots K_0, \ldots, K_{g-1} in S^5 with the following properties.

- (1) All K_i are diffeomorphic to Σ as abstract 3-manifolds.
- (2) The exteriors $E(K_i) = S^5 \operatorname{Int} N(K_i)$ are all diffeomorphic to each other, where $N(K_i)$ is a tubular neighborhood of K_i in S^5 .
- (3) The Seifert matrices of K_i are all congruent to each other.
- (4) The knots K_i and K_j are not isotopic to each other if $i \neq j$.

PROOF. In the following, we use the same notation as in the proof of Theorem 3.1. Let K_0 be a fibered Σ -knot constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.1 by using a unimodular skew-symmetric $2g \times 2g$ matrix J_0 . (The matrix J_0 will be chosen more explicitly later.) Note that the Seifert matrix L_0 of K_0 is of the form $L_0 = J_0 \oplus R \oplus L_S$. Let F be the fiber of the fibered 3-knot K_0 and $h: F \to F$ the geometric monodromy.

It is not difficult to see that there exist \tilde{a}_i and \tilde{b}_i in $H_2(F, \partial F)$ such that $\partial \tilde{a}_i = a'_i, \ \partial \tilde{b}_i = b'_i$, and $\bar{a}_i \cdot \tilde{a}_j = \bar{b}_i \cdot \tilde{b}_j = \delta_{ij}, \bar{a}_i \cdot \tilde{b}_j = \bar{b}_i \cdot \tilde{a}_j = 0$, where "·" denotes the intersection number in F. Note that $H_2(F, \partial F)$ naturally decomposes as $H_2(F', \partial F') \oplus H_2((\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ, \partial(\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)$. We may assume that $\tilde{a}_i, \tilde{b}_i \in H_2(F', \partial F')$. Furthermore, $H_2(F')$ and $H_2(F', \partial F')$ decomposes as $H_2(F') = A \oplus B$ and $H_2(F', \partial F') = A' \oplus B'$ respectively in accordance with the decomposition $J_0 \oplus R$. Then we may further assume that \tilde{a}_i and \tilde{b}_i are in A', since in the exact sequence of the pair $(F', \partial F')$

$$(4.3) \quad 0 \longrightarrow H_2(\partial F') \xrightarrow{\alpha} A \oplus B \xrightarrow{\beta} A' \oplus B' \xrightarrow{\partial} H_1(\partial F') \longrightarrow 0,$$

Im $\alpha = A$, $\beta(B) \subset B'$ and $B'/\beta(B) (\subset H_1(\partial F'))$ is finite cyclic of order e (generated by the class represented by a fiber of the fibration $\pi : \Sigma \to \Sigma_q$).

Since Σ is a principal S^1 -bundle, we have a 1-parameter family of diffeomorphisms $\varphi_t : \Sigma \to \Sigma$ parametrized by $t \in S^1 = [0,1]/\{0,1\}$ which is

induced by the S^1 -action on Σ . Let $c: \Sigma \times [0,1] \to F$ be a collar neighborhood of ∂F in F, where c(x,1) = x for all $x \in \Sigma = \partial F$. Then define the diffeomorphism $h'': F \to F$ by

(4.4)
$$h''(x) = \begin{cases} x, & \text{if } x \notin c(\Sigma \times [0,1]), \\ c(\varphi_t(y), t), & \text{if } x = c(y, t). \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, set $h' = h'' \circ h$. Note that h' is isotopic to h (not relative to boundary). Let Δ and $\Delta' : H_2(F, \partial F) \to H_2(F)$ be the variation maps of h and h' respectively. Then we have

(4.5)
$$\Delta'(\tilde{a}_i) = \Delta(\tilde{a}_i) - \bar{b}_i,$$

(4.6)
$$\Delta'(\tilde{b}_i) = \Delta(\tilde{a}_i) - \tilde{a}_i$$
$$\Delta'(\tilde{b}_i) = \Delta(\tilde{b}_i) + \bar{a}_i$$

(4.7)
$$\Delta'(x) = \Delta(x),$$

where x is an arbitrary element in $B' \oplus H_2((\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ, \partial(\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)$. Thus the variation map $\Delta' : H_2(F', \partial F') \oplus H_2((\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ, \partial(\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ) \to H_2(F') \oplus H_2((\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)$ decomposes as the direct sum of two maps $H_2(F', \partial F') \to H_2(F')$ and $H_2((\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ, \partial(\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ) \to H_2((\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)$ as Δ does. Furthermore, we see that Δ and Δ' preserve the decompositions $H_2(F') = A \oplus B$ and $H_2(F', \partial F') = A' \oplus B'$ and that the restrictions to $B' \oplus H_2((\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ, \partial(\sharp^{2k}S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)$ of Δ and Δ' coincide. Thus in the following, we concentrate ourselves to the part corresponding to A and A'. Note that $\{\bar{a}_i, \bar{b}_i\}$ constitutes a basis of A and $\{\tilde{a}_i, \tilde{b}_i\}$ a basis of A'. With respect to these bases, we have

$$(4.8) \qquad \qquad \Delta' = \Delta + J_{2}$$

where J is as in (3.10). On the other hand, by [37], we have $\Delta = J_0^{-1}$. Thus we have

(4.9)
$$\Delta' = J_0^{-1} + J = J_0^{-1} (J_0 - J) J.$$

Now let J_0 be the matrix of the form

(4.10)
$$J_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & X \\ -{}^t\!X & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where X is a unimodular $g \times g$ integral matrix of the form as in (3.12) constructed from a sequence of integers $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_{q-1}$. We choose the sequence

as follows. Set

(4.11)
$$C = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & 2 & 2^2 & \cdots & 2^{g-1} \\ 1 & 3 & 3^2 & \cdots & 3^{g-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 1 & g & g^2 & \cdots & g^{g-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

and let C^* be the transpose of the cofactor matrix of C; in other words, $C^*C = CC^* = (\det C)I$, where I is the $g \times g$ unit matrix. Note that $\det C = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le g} (j - i)$. We set

(4.12)
$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{g-1} \\ \alpha_{g-2} \\ \vdots \\ \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\det C} C^* \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ (g-1)! \end{pmatrix}.$$

Setting $C^* = (c^*_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le g}$, we have

(4.13)
$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{g-1} \\ \vdots \\ \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{(g-1)!}{\det C} \begin{pmatrix} c_{1g}^* \\ \vdots \\ c_{g-1g}^* \\ c_{gg}^* \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le g-1} (j-i)} \begin{pmatrix} c_{1g}^* \\ \vdots \\ c_{g-1g}^* \\ c_{gg}^* \end{pmatrix}.$$

Furthermore, we have

$$(4.14) \quad c_{ig}^* = (-1)^{i+g} \\ \cdot \det \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & 2 & 2^2 & \cdots & 2^{i-1} & \cdots & 2^{g-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 1 & (g-1) & (g-1)^2 & \cdots & (g-1)^{i-1} & \cdots & (g-1)^{g-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where the column with "~" is deleted.

LEMMA 4.7. The product $\prod_{1 \le j < k \le g-1} (k-j)$ divides c_{ig}^* in **Z**.

PROOF. For each *i* with $1 \le i \le g$, set

(4.15)
$$f_i(x_1, \dots, x_{g-1}) = \det \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x_1 & x_1^2 & \cdots & x_1^{i-1} & \cdots & x_1^{g-1} \\ 1 & x_2 & x_2^2 & \cdots & x_2^{i-1} & \cdots & x_2^{g-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 1 & x_{g-1} & x_{g-1}^2 & \cdots & x_{g-1}^{i-1} & \cdots & x_{g-1}^{g-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

which is an element of $\mathbf{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_{g-1}]$. Then we have only to show that for all j and k with $1 \leq j < k \leq g-1, x_k - x_j$ divides $f_i(x_1, \ldots, x_{g-1})$. Let us denote by S_{g-1} the symmetric group on the g-1 letters $\{1, 2, \ldots, g-1\}$. For an element $\sigma \in S_{g-1}$, let us denote by ε_{σ} the signature of σ and by $\tilde{\sigma}: \{1, 2, \ldots, g-1\} \rightarrow \{0, 1, \ldots, i-2, i, \ldots, g-1\}$ the composition $\tau \circ \sigma$, where $\tau: \{1, 2, \ldots, g-1\} \rightarrow \{0, 1, \ldots, i-2, i, \ldots, g-1\}$ is the order preserving bijection. Then we have

$$(4.16) \quad f_i(x_1, \dots, x_{g-1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}_{g-1}} \varepsilon_\sigma x_1^{\tilde{\sigma}(1)} \cdots x_{g-1}^{\tilde{\sigma}(g-1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma(j) < \sigma(k)} \varepsilon_\sigma x_1^{\tilde{\sigma}(1)} \cdots x_{g-1}^{\tilde{\sigma}(g-1)} + \sum_{\sigma(j) > \sigma(k)} \varepsilon_\sigma x_1^{\tilde{\sigma}(1)} \cdots x_{g-1}^{\tilde{\sigma}(g-1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma(j) < \sigma(k)} \varepsilon_\sigma (x_1^{\tilde{\sigma}(1)} \cdots x_j^{\tilde{\sigma}(j)} \cdots x_k^{\tilde{\sigma}(k)} \cdots x_{g-1}^{\tilde{\sigma}(g-1)}$$

$$-x_1^{\tilde{\sigma}(1)} \cdots x_j^{\tilde{\sigma}(k)} \cdots x_k^{\tilde{\sigma}(j)} \cdots x_{g-1}^{\tilde{\sigma}(g-1)})$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma(j) < \sigma(k)} \varepsilon_\sigma x_1^{\tilde{\sigma}(1)} \cdots x_j^{\tilde{\sigma}(j)} \cdots x_k^{\tilde{\sigma}(j)} \cdots x_{g-1}^{\tilde{\sigma}(g-1)} (x_k^{\tilde{\sigma}(k) - \tilde{\sigma}(j)} - x_j^{\tilde{\sigma}(k) - \tilde{\sigma}(j)}),$$

which implies that $x_k - x_j$ divides $f_i(x_1, \ldots, x_{g-1})$. This completes the proof. \Box

By the above lemma, $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_{g-1}$ are integers. Furthermore, since

(4.17)
$$c_{gg}^* = \prod_{1 \le j < k \le g-1} (k-j),$$

we have $\alpha_0 = 1$.

LEMMA 4.8. For the above constructed sequence of integers $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_{g-1}$, we have

(4.18)
$$1 + n\alpha_{g-1} + n^2\alpha_{g-2} + \dots + n^{g-1}\alpha_1 + n^g\alpha_0 = 1$$

for $n = 0, 1, \ldots, g - 1$.

PROOF. Since we have

(4.19)
$$C\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{g-1} \\ \vdots \\ \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ (g-1)! \end{pmatrix}$$

by (4.12), the result easily follows. \Box

For $n = 0, 1, \ldots, g - 1$, set $h'_n = (h'')^n \circ h$, where $(h'')^n$ denotes the composite of n copies of h''. Note that $h'_1 = h'$. Let Δ'_n denote the variation map of h'_n restricted to the direct summands A' and A of $H_2(F, \partial F)$ and $H_2(F)$ respectively. Then we have

(4.20)
$$\Delta'_{n} = \Delta + nJ = J_{0}^{-1} + nJ = J_{0}^{-1}(nJ_{0} - J)J,$$

where

(4.21)
$$nJ_0 - J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & nX - I \\ -n^t X + I & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

It is easy to show that

(4.22)
$$\det(nX - I) = (-1)^g (1 + n\alpha_{g-1} + n^2\alpha_{g-2} + \dots + n^{g-1}\alpha_1 + n^g\alpha_0)$$

and that this is equal to $(-1)^g$ by the above lemma. Thus Δ'_n is an isomorphism. Then by the open book construction [37], [74], we can construct a fibered knot K_n using the diffeomorphism h'_n . If we put $L'_n = (\Delta'_n)^{-1}$, then the Seifert matrix of K_n is of the form $L'_n \oplus R \oplus L_S$.

By the above construction, the properties (1), (2) and (3) of Theorem 4.6 obviously hold. Now we show that K_i and K_j are not isotopic to each other

for $i \neq j$. Consider $\varepsilon_{L'_n}(t) = \det(tJ - L'_n)$. Then it is not difficult to show that $\varepsilon_{L'_n} = f_n(t)^2$, where

(4.23)
$$f_n(t) = t^g + (nt+1)t^{g-1}\alpha_{g-1} + \cdots + (nt+1)^{g-1}t\alpha_1 + (nt+1)^g.$$

Thus the coefficient of t in $f_n(t)$ is equal to $\alpha_1 + gn$. This implies that $\varepsilon_{L'_i}(t) \neq \varepsilon_{L'_j}(t)$ if $i \neq j$. Then by the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 3.1, we see that K_i and K_j are not isotopic to each other. This completes the proof of Theorem 4.6. \Box

REMARK 4.9. In the above construction, the exteriors $E = E(K_i)$ of K_i are diffeomorphic to each other and if we attach $\Sigma \times D^2$ to E appropriately, then we obtain K_i as the core $\Sigma \times \{0\}$ of $\Sigma \times D^2$. In this construction, the attaching maps are essentially different from each other.

REMARK 4.10. By the above calculation, we see that when e = 1, the variation map of $h'': F' \to F'$ is equal to J, which is unimodular. In other words, we can construct a fibered Σ -knot by using $h'': F' \to F'$ as the geometric monodromy; in other words, we do not need stabilizations. This is a fibered Σ -knot which has the minimal second betti number of the fiber.

REMARK 4.11. We do not know if there exist infinitely many fibered Σ -knots which satisfy the conditions (1)—(4) (or (1) and (4)) of Theorem 4.6 for some 3-manifold Σ . See also Remark 3.6.

5. Fibering Structures

In higher dimensions, fibering structures of fibered knots are unique up to isotopy [21], [36]. In this section we consider the problem whether or not fibering structures for fibered 3-knots are unique (see [21, p.53]). First we show that fibering structures are unique up to topological isotopy.

THEOREM 5.1. Let K be a fibered 3-knot and $\phi_j : S^5 - K \to S^1$ (j = 0, 1) two smooth fibrations of its complement as in Definition 2.1. Then there exists a homeomorphism $\Phi : S^5 \to S^5$ with $\Phi(K) = K$ which is

topologically isotopic to the identity and which makes the following diagram commutative:

(5.1)
$$S^{5} - K \xrightarrow{\Phi} S^{5} - K$$
$$\phi_{0} \searrow \swarrow \phi_{1}$$
$$S^{1}.$$

PROOF. By the proof of Lemma 2.5 together with Remark 2.7, we see that there exists an orientation preserving homeomorphism $\Phi : (S^5, K) \rightarrow (S^5, K)$ which makes the diagram (5.1) commutative. Then the result follows from the following lemma.

LEMMA 5.2. Every orientation preserving homeomorphism $h: S^m \to S^m$ is topologically isotopic to the identity for all m.

PROOF. We prove the lemma by the induction on m. For m = 0, the result is obvious. Assume that $m \ge 1$ and that the conclusion of the lemma is true for m - 1. Let D_+ and D_- be the hemispheres of S^m separated by the equatorial (m - 1)-dimensional sphere S_0^{m-1} . Note that D_{\pm} are homeomorphic to the m-dimensional disk. By a topological isotopy, we may assume that $h(D_+) \subset \text{Int } D_+$. Then by the solution of the annulus conjecture (see [43], [70]), we see that $D_+ - h(\text{Int } D_+)$ is homeomorphic to $S^{m-1} \times [0, 1]$. Hence, by the induction hypothesis, we may assume that $h(S_0^{m-1}) = h(S_0^{m-1}), h(D_+) = D_+$ and $h(D_-) = D_-$. Then for $h|_{D_{\pm}}$ use the Alexander trick to obtain a topological isotopy to the identity map. This completes the proof of Lemma 5.2 and hence that of Theorem 5.1 as well. \Box

REMARK 5.3. In [21], it has been shown that the fibering structures are unique up to smooth isotopy for a fibered (2n-1)-knot K with $n \geq 3$. More precisely, if ϕ_j (j = 0, 1) are two fibrations, then there exists a diffeomorphism $\Phi : S^{2n+1} \to S^{2n+1}$ with $\Phi(K) = K$ smoothly isotopic to the identity such that $\phi_0 = \phi_1 \circ \Phi$. This is also true for n = 1.

If we work in the differentiable category, fibering structures of fibered 3-knots are not unique. To see this, we use the following proposition, which is essentially due to Donaldson.

PROPOSITION 5.4. Let f be a polynomial in \mathbb{C}^3 with f(0) = 0 and with an isolated critical point at the origin. Let F_f be a fiber of the Milnor fibration associated with f (see §11). If $\partial F_f = K_f$ is a homology 3-sphere, then F_f is not diffeomorphic to a connected sum $X_1 \sharp X_2$, where X_j are smooth 4manifolds with $b_2^+ > 0$ (b_2^+ is the rank of the positive part of the intersection form on the second homology group).

PROOF. By [59], F_f is diffeomorphic to the manifold given by $D_{\varepsilon}^6 \cap f^{-1}(\delta)$ ($0 < \delta << \varepsilon << 1$). Thus F_f can be smoothly embedded (as a smooth manifold) in a nonsingular algebraic surface in $\mathbb{C}P^3$ with sufficiently high degree. Then the result follows directly from [20, Theorem A]. This completes the proof. \Box

PROPOSITION 5.5. Set $f(x, y, z) = x^2 + y^3 + z^{12k-1}$ $(k \ge 4)$. Then the algebraic knot K_f associated with f has at least two smooth fibrations of its complement with nondiffeomorphic fibers.

PROOF. Let F_f be a fiber of the Milnor fibration associated with f. Then by [10], ∂F_f is a homology 3-sphere and the intersection form of F_f is isomorphic to $k(-2E_8 \oplus 3U) \oplus (k-2)U$, where E_8 is the unique positive definite symmetric unimodular bilinear form of even type and of rank 8 and U is the bilinear form represented by the matrix

(5.2)
$$\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right).$$

(See, for example, [60].) Furthermore by [57], the 3-manifold K_f bounds a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold N with intersection form U. Set $F = kV_4 \sharp (k-3)(S^2 \times S^2) \sharp N$, where V_4 is diffeomorphic to a K3 surface (for example, a nonsingular complex surface of degree 4 in $\mathbb{C}P^3$). Note that the intersection forms of F_f and F are isomorphic and $\partial F_f \cong \partial F$. Let Lbe a Seifert matrix of the algebraic knot K_f . Then by [74], there exists a fibered 3-knot K with fiber F and Seifert matrix L. (This is obtained by the open book construction.) By Theorem 2.12 (or by [74]), K_f is isotopic to K. However, the fibers of K_f and K are not diffeomorphic to each other by Proposition 5.4. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 5.6. Other examples as in Proposition 5.5 can be found in [74]. We do not know if there exists a fibered 3-knot which admits an

infinitely many smoothly distinct fibering structures. It is probable that we can construct such an example by using the method of the next section together with a result of [27] about exotic K3 surfaces.

Let K_S be a stabilizer defined in [75]. Furthermore let $\phi_S : S^5 - K_S \to S^1$ be a fixed fibration of its complement whose fiber F_S is diffeomorphic to $((S^2 \times S^2) \sharp (S^2 \times S^2))^\circ$. If we work in the differentiable category, all we can say is that fibering structures of fibered 3-knots are stably unique as follows.

PROPOSITION 5.7. Let K be a fibered 3-knot and $\phi_j : S^5 - K \to S^1$ (j = 0, 1) two smooth fibrations of its complement as in Definition 2.1. Then there exist a nonnegative integer k and a diffeomorphism $\Phi : S^5 \to S^5$ with $\Phi(K \sharp kK_S) = \Phi(K \sharp kK_S)$ smoothly isotopic to the identity such that the two fibrations $\phi_j \sharp k\phi_S : S^5 - (K \sharp kK_S) \to S^1$ satisfy $(\phi_1 \sharp k\phi_S) \circ \Phi = \phi_0 \sharp k\phi_S$, where $\phi_j \sharp k\phi_S$ is the fibration of the complement of the fibered 3-knot $K \sharp kK_S$ associated with ϕ_j and ϕ_S .

PROOF. Let F_j be a fiber of $\phi_j|_{S^5-\operatorname{Int} N(K)}$, where N(K) is a tubular neighborhood of K in S⁵. Furthermore let $E = E(K) = S^5 - \operatorname{Int} N(K)$ be the exterior of K in S^5 and $\pi: \tilde{E} \to E$ the universal cover of E. Then by the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.5, we see that there exists a smooth h-cobordism W between F_0 and F_1 embedded in \tilde{E} . Then by [50], [71], $W \sharp_c 2k' (S^2 \times S^2 \times I)$ is diffeomorphic to $(F_0 \sharp 2k' (S^2 \times S^2)) \times I$ I for a sufficiently large nonnegative integer k'. In particular, the fibers F'_i of $\phi_i \sharp k' \phi_S$ are diffeomorphic to each other and we also see that their geometric monodromies are smoothly pseudoisotopic relative to boundary by using Wall's construction [89, p.140]. Hence, by the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.4, we see that there exists an orientation preserving diffeomorphism $\Psi: S^5 \to S^5$ with $\Psi(F'_0) = F'_1$ such that $\Psi|_{F'_0}$ preserves the Seifert forms. By Lemma 2.3 we may also assume that F'_i have handlebody decompositions without 3-handles. Then by using Levine's argument [54, §§18–20], we see that F'_0 and F'_1 are smoothly isotopic to each other in S^5 . Then by an argument similar to that in [21, Proof of 3.2], we see that the geometric monodromies of $\phi_i \sharp k' \phi_S$ are smoothly pseudoisotopic to each other. By [69], [72], this pseudoisotopy is smoothly isotopic to an isotopy after a connected sum with k'' additional copies of K_S to $K \sharp k' K_S$ for some

k''. Then using the same argument as in [21], we see that there exists a desired diffeomorphism $\Phi : S^5 \to S^5$ for k = k' + k''. This completes the proof. \Box

6. Fibered 3-Knots with Fiber a Punctured K3 Surface

In §10 we will show that for any smooth closed 1-connected spin 4manifold N not homotopy equivalent to S^4 , there exists a fibered 3-knot whose fiber is diffeomorphic to $(N\sharp(S^2 \times S^2))^\circ$. Let V_4 be a K3 surface; i.e., V_4 is a 1-connected compact complex surface with trivial canonical bundle. Then it is known that V_4 is not diffeomorphic to a connected sum $N\sharp(S^2 \times S^2)$ [19]. Thus it arises the question whether or not a punctured K3 surface V_4° can be a fiber of a fibered 3-knot. In this section we answer to this question affirmatively, using a result of Matumoto [58].

Suppose $A \in GL(3, \mathbb{Z})$ satisfies $\det(I - A) = \pm 1$, where $I \in GL(3, \mathbb{Z})$ is the unit matrix. Set

(6.1)
$$B = \begin{pmatrix} I - A & 0 \\ 0 & I - {}^{t}\!A^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

then it is easy to see that B is unimodular. Set

(6.2)
$$C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix} B^{-1}.$$

Then C is unimodular and we have

(6.3)
$$C + {}^{t}C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

(6.4)
$$-C^{-1t}C = \begin{pmatrix} A & 0\\ 0 & {}^{t}A^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $D = -C^{-1t}C$ is an isometry of

(6.5)
$$H = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

i.e., ${}^{t}DHD = H$. Thus D preserves the positive part of H (here we identify H with the symmetric bilinear form $\mathbf{R}^{6} \times \mathbf{R}^{6} \to \mathbf{R}$ with matrix representative H). Then we can show that a matrix representative of D restricted

to the positive part of H is equal to $A + {}^{t}A^{-1} = A(I + A^{-1t}A^{-1})$. Since the symmetric matrix $I + A^{-1t}A^{-1}$ is positive definite, we see that D preserves the orientation of the positive part of H if and only if det A = 1. Assume det A = 1 in the following.

Let L_1 be a unimodular 8×8 matrix satisfying $L_1 + {}^tL_1 = -E_8$; for example, a Seifert matrix for the algebraic knot associated with the polynomial $x^2 + y^3 + z^5$. Set $L = L_1 \oplus L_1 \oplus C$. Then $L + {}^tL$ is congruent to $-2E_8 \oplus 3U$ and the isometry $-L^{-1t}L$ of $L + {}^tL$ preserves the orientation of the positive part of $L + {}^tL$. By [58], $-L^{-1t}L$ can be realized by a self-diffeomorphism of a punctured K3 surface V_4° which is the identity on the boundary. Then using the open book construction [37], [74], we get a fibered 3-knot whose fiber is a punctured K3 surface. Thus we obtain the following.

PROPOSITION 6.1. There exist infinitely many fibered 3-knots with fiber diffeomorphic to a punctured K3 surface.

PROOF. For integers α_1 and α_2 with $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \pm 1$, set

(6.6)
$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & -\alpha_1 \\ 0 & 1 & -\alpha_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that there exist infinitely many such pairs (α_1, α_2) . By Lemma 3.5, we see that det A = 1 and det $(I - A) = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \pm 1$. Using these matrices in the above construction, we obtain infinitely many fibered 3-knots with fiber diffeomorphic to a punctured K3 surface. We can show that all these knots are not isotopic to each other, since their Alexander polynomials (or the characteristic polynomials of the algebraic monodromy) are distinct. This completes the proof. \Box

If we use a matrix with det A = -1 in the above construction, we get the following.

PROPOSITION 6.2. There exist infinitely many smooth embeddings ξ_i : $V_4^{\circ} \to S^5$ (i = 1, 2, 3, ...) with the following properties.

- (1) $\xi_i(\partial V_4^\circ)$ is an almost fibered 3-knot with $\xi_i(V_4^\circ)$ a fiber.
- (2) There exists no smooth fibering of the complement of $\xi_i(\partial V_4^\circ)$ in S^5 with $\xi_i(V_4^\circ)$ a fiber.

PROOF. For integers α_1 and α_2 with $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + 2 = \pm 1$, set

(6.7)
$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 & -\alpha_1 \\ 0 & 1 & -\alpha_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that there exist infinitely many such pairs (α_1, α_2) . We see by Lemma 3.5 that det A = -1 and det $(I - A) = \pm 1$. Then we can find an embedding $\xi : V_4^{\circ} \to S^5$ whose Seifert matrix is $L = L_1 \oplus L_1 \oplus C$, using Kervaire's method [41]. (Note that V_4° has a special handlebody decomposition [29].) Using the unimodularness of L and Freedman's theorem [23], we see that the exterior of $\xi(\partial V_4^{\circ})$ in S^5 fibers over S^1 topologically with $\xi(V_4^{\circ})$ a fiber. Since the monodromy does not preserve the orientation of the positive part of $H_2(V_4^{\circ}; \mathbf{R})$, it cannot be realized by any diffeomorphism [20]. Thus the complement of $\xi(\partial V_4^{\circ})$ in S^5 never fibers over S^1 smoothly with $\xi(V_4^{\circ})$ a fiber.

We see that the almost fibered knots constructed above are all distinct by the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 6.1. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 6.3. We do not know whether $\xi(\partial V_4^\circ)$ in Proposition 6.2 is a smooth fibered 3-knot or not. If there exists a smooth homotopy K3 surface with a self-diffeomorphism realizing the above algebraic monodromy, then $\xi(\partial V_4^\circ)$ does fiber smoothly, and vice versa. See [27].

REMARK 6.4. We do not know if there exists an almost fibered 3-knot which is not smoothly fibered. Note that there does exist an *algebraically fibered* 3-knot which is not smoothly fibered [40]. In fact, Kearton's example is not an almost fibered 3-knot. Note also that an almost fibered 3-knot is always algebraically fibered and that every algebraically fibered 3-knot is topologically fibered [32].

7. Decomposition of Fibered 3-Knots

We say that a knot is *decomposable* if it is the connected sum of two nontrivial knots. Here a *trivial knot* refers to a standardly embedded sphere embedded in a sphere in codimension two. In [74] we have given an example of a decomposable fibered 3-knot such that one of its factor knots is not

731

smoothly fibered. In this section we give an example of a decomposable fibered 3-knot such that neither of the factor knots is smoothly fibered.

Example 7.1. Let Σ be the Brieskorn homology 3-sphere $\Sigma(2,7,13)$ (for example, see [57]). Then Σ bounds a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold M with intersection form isomorphic to $-E_{16}$ [57]. Set $F = M \sharp 2(S^2 \times S^2)$ and let L be a Seifert matrix of the algebraic 3-knot associated with the polynomial $x^2 + y^3 + z^{11}$. Then by [10], we see that $L + {}^tL$ is congruent to $-2E_8 \oplus 2U \cong -E_{16} \oplus 2U$. Thus there exists a fibered Σ -knot K with fiber F and Seifert matrix L [74]. Since L is nontrivial and the Rohlin invariant of Σ is zero, the knot K is decomposable by [75].

Suppose $K = K_1 \sharp K_2$, where both K_j are nontrivial. We show that neither of K_j is smoothly fibered. It is easy to see that $\pi_1(S^5 - K_j)$ are isomorphic to **Z**, since so is $\pi_1(S^5 - K)$. Since Σ is an irreducible 3-manifold, we may assume that K_1 is an S^3 -knot and K_2 is a Σ -knot. Since $\Delta_L(t) =$ $\det(tL + {}^tL) = \phi_{66}(t)$ (the 66-th cyclotomic polynomial) is irreducible, Lcannot be decomposed into a direct sum. Thus we see that a Seifert matrix of K_1 must coincide with L and a Seifert matrix of K_2 with zero.

If K_1 is smoothly fibered, then its fiber F_1 is a smooth compact 1connected 4-manifold with $\partial F_1 \cong S^3$ and intersection form isomorphic to $-2E_8 \oplus 2U$. This contradicts a result of Donaldson [19]. Thus K_1 is not smoothly fibered.

If K_2 is smoothly fibered, then its fiber F_2 is a smooth contractible 4manifold with $\partial F_2 \cong \Sigma$. Then $M \cup_{\Sigma} (-F_2)$ is a smooth closed 1-connected 4-manifold with intersection form isomorphic to $-E_{16}$. This contradicts Donaldson's theorem [18]. Thus K_2 is not smoothly fibered.

Thus the fibered 3-knot K is the connected sum of two nontrivial knots and neither of the factor knots are smoothly fibered.

REMARK 7.2. Using Freedman's results [23], we see that both of K_j do fiber topologically (see also [32]).

Next we consider the decomposition of fibered 3-knots constructed by the cyclic suspension ([63]) of iterated torus knots (for example, see [91]). By using the results in [75], it is easy to prove the following.

PROPOSITION 7.3. Let k be an iterated torus knot which is not a torus

knot, and let K be the r-fold cyclic suspension of k. Then if K is a homology 3-sphere, then the knot K is decomposable.

In the above proposition, the condition that K should be a homology 3-sphere is essential. If K is not a homology 3-sphere, the conclusion of the above proposition does not hold in general as follows.

PROPOSITION 7.4. Let K be the 2-fold cyclic suspension of the $\{(3,2),(7,3)\}$ -iterated torus knot. Then $H_1(K) \cong \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$ and the knot K is not decomposable as a knot.

PROOF. The Alexander polynomial $\Delta_K(t)$ of K is easily computed and we get $\Delta_K(t) = \phi_{42}(t)\phi_9(t)$, where $\phi_m(t)$ is the *m*-th cyclotomic polynomial. Since $\Delta_K(1) = 3$, we see that $H_1(K) \cong \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$.

Suppose $K = K_1 \sharp K_2$, where both of K_j are nontrivial. It is easy to see that $\pi_1(S^5 - K_j)$ are isomorphic to \mathbf{Z} , since so is $\pi_1(S^5 - K)$. Since the 3-manifold K is the 2-fold branched covering space of S^3 branched along a prime knot, it is irreducible ([47], [45, p.493]). Thus we may assume that K_1 is homeomorphic to S^3 and K_2 is homeomorphic to K as abstract 3-manifolds. Let L_j be a Seifert matrix of K_j and L a Seifert matrix of K. Then $L_1 \oplus L_2$ is S-equivalent to L (for details, see [54]). Let $\Delta_j(t)$ be the Alexander polynomial of K_j . Since L_j is not S-equivalent to the zero matrix, $\Delta_j(t) = \det(tL_j + {}^tL_j)$ is nontrivial. Since $\Delta_K(t) = \Delta_1(t)\Delta_2(t)$ and $\Delta_1(1) = 1$, we have $\Delta_1(t) = \phi_{42}(t)$ and $\Delta_2(t) = \phi_9(t)$.

On the other hand, L is of the form $A \oplus B$, where A is a Seifert matrix of the algebraic knot associated with the polynomial $x^2 + y^3 + z^7$,

(7.1)
$$B = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 & {}^tB_1 & {}^tB_1 \\ B_1 & B_1 & {}^tB_1 \\ B_1 & B_1 & B_1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and B_1 is a Seifert matrix of the (2,3)-torus knot (see [81]). We have $\operatorname{sign}(A + {}^{t}A) = -8$ by [10] and $\operatorname{sign}(B + {}^{t}B) = -2$ by a direct computation, where "sign" denotes the signature of a symmetric matrix. Thus $\operatorname{sign}(L + {}^{t}L) = -10$.

Since $\Delta_K(-1) = 1$, we have $\det(L_j - {}^tL_j) = \pm 1$. Then using Trotter's argument [85], we see that L_j are S-equivalent to nonsingular matrices L'_j . Since the degrees of $\Delta_j(t) = \det(tL'_j + {}^tL'_j)$ for j = 1, 2 are 12 and 6

respectively, we have $|\operatorname{sign}(L_1 + {}^tL_1)| = |\operatorname{sign}(L'_1 + {}^tL'_1)| \leq 12$ and $|\operatorname{sign}(L_2 + {}^tL_2)| = |\operatorname{sign}(L'_2 + {}^tL'_2)| \leq 6$. Since the Rohlin invariant of S^3 is equal to zero, we have $\operatorname{sign}(L_1 + {}^tL_1) \equiv 0 \mod 16$, and hence $\operatorname{sign}(L_1 + {}^tL_1) = 0$. Since $\operatorname{sign}(L + {}^tL) = \operatorname{sign}(L_1 + {}^tL_1) + \operatorname{sign}(L_2 + {}^tL_2)$, we have $|\operatorname{sign}(L + {}^tL)| \leq 6$. This is a contradiction. Thus K cannot be decomposed into a nontrivial connected sum. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 7.5. The $\{(3, 2), (7, 3)\}$ -iterated torus knot is not algebraic (for a precise definition of an algebraic knot, see §11). Thus we do not know whether or not there exists a counter-example to Corollary 3.8 of [75] when the 3-knot is not a homology 3-sphere. Furthermore, we do not know if the knot in the above proposition is *topologically* decomposable or not.

Using Lemma 3.2 of $\S3$, we obtain the following interesting result about the cancellation of fibered 3-knots.

PROPOSITION 7.6. Let K and K' be fibered 3-knots in S^5 such that the intersection forms of the fibers are the zero forms. If there exists a fibered S^3 -knot K_0 such that $K \sharp K_0$ is isotopic to $K' \sharp K_0$, then K is isotopic to K'.

PROOF. We denote by F, F' and F_0 the fibers of K, K' and K_0 respectively. By Theorem 2.2, we see that there exist a homeomorphism $\psi: K \to K'$ and an isomorphism $\Lambda: H_2(F \natural F_0) \to H_2(F' \natural F_0)$ which satisfy certain conditions. By Lemma 3.2, this isomorphism decomposes into two isomorphisms $\Lambda_1: H_2(F) \to H_2(F')$ and $\Lambda_2: H_2(F_0) \to H_2(F_0)$. Now it is easy to see that the homeomorphism ψ and the isomorphism Λ_1 satisfy the required conditions of Theorem 2.2 (4) for K and K'. Hence K and K' are isotopic to each other. This completes the proof. \Box

We say that a fibered 3-knot K is *definite* if the intersection form of its fiber is (positive or negative) definite. For the cancellation problem for such fibered 3-knots, we have the following.

PROPOSITION 7.7. Let K and K' be definite fibered 3-knots in S^5 such that K and K' are homology 3-spheres as abstract 3-manifolds. If there exists a definite fibered S^3 -knot K_0 such that $K \sharp K_0$ is isotopic to $K' \sharp K_0$, then K is isotopic to K'.

The above proposition can be proved by using an argument similar to that in the proof of Proposition 7.6 together with the result in $[5, \S 2]$.

About the cancellation problem for simple spherical (2n - 1)-knots in S^{2n+1} $(n \ge 2)$, Bayer-Fluckiger has obtained numerous results. In some cases, the cancellation works, while in other cases, it does not. For details, see [1, Proposition 6.6], [2], [3, Corollary 1], and [4].

REMARK 7.8. About the factorization of simple (not necessarily fibered) S^3 -knots, the following is already known.

- (1) Every simple S^3 -knot decomposes into finitely may irreducible knots [5].
- (2) Every simple S^3 -knot has only finitely many factors. In particular, such a 3-knot can factorize in only finitely many ways [6].
- Irreducible factorization of a simple S³-knot is not unique in general [38], [39], [5].

8. Plumbing Fibered 3-Knots

It is known that for fibered (2n-1)-knots with $n \neq 2$, the plumbing operation is a powerful way to construct a new fibered knot from given two fibered knots (see [30], [83], [55], [56]). In this section we show that the plumbing operation does work also for fibered 3-knots.

First we recall the plumbing operation. Let K_i (i = 1, 2) be two fibered 3-knots with fiber F_i . Divide S^5 into two hemispheres D_i^5 (i = 1, 2), so that S^5 is the union of the two 5-dimensional disks D_i^5 attached along their common boundary $S(\cong S^4)$. We suppose that $F_i \subset D_i^5$ and that there exists an embedding $\psi: D^2 \times D^2 \to S$ with the following properties.

- (1) $F_1 \cap S = F_2 \cap S = F_1 \cap F_2 = \psi(D^2 \times D^2).$
- (2) $\psi(\partial D^2 \times D^2) = \partial F_1 \cap \psi(D^2 \times D^2)$ and $\psi(D^2 \times \partial D^2) = \partial F_2 \cap \psi(D^2 \times D^2)$.
- (3) The orientations of F_1 and F_2 coincide on $\psi(D^2 \times D^2)$.

Define $F_1 \Box F_2$ to be the union of F_1 and F_2 with the corner smoothed and define $K = K_1 \Box K_2 = \partial(F_1 \Box F_2)$. We say that K is obtained from K_1 and K_2 by a *plumbing* construction (see [55, §2]).

By the same argument as in [55, Proposition 2.1], we see easily that K is algebraically fibered; i.e., K has a Seifert matrix S-equivalent to a unimodular matrix (see [75]).

Our main result of this section is the following.

THEOREM 8.1. If K_i (i = 1, 2) are fibered 3-knots with fiber F_i , then the knot $K = K_1 \Box K_2$ constructed from K_1 and K_2 by a plumbing construction is also fibered with fiber $F_1 \Box F_2$.

PROOF. Set $F = F_1 \Box F_2$ and let $h_i : F_i \to F_i$ be the geometric monodromy of K_i . Note that h_i is the identity on the boundary ∂F_i . We define the diffeomorphisms $\tilde{h}_i : F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) by

(8.1)
$$\tilde{h}_i(x) = \begin{cases} h_i(x), & \text{if } x \in F_i, \\ x, & \text{if } x \notin F_i. \end{cases}$$

It is easy to see that \tilde{h}_i are diffeomorphisms and that they are the identity map on ∂F . Set $h = \tilde{h}_2 \circ \tilde{h}_1 : F \to F$, which is a diffeomorphism with $h|_{\partial F}$ the identity.

We need the following lemma.

LEMMA 8.2. Set

(8.2)
$$F'_1 = F_1 - \psi(D^2 \times \operatorname{Int} D^2),$$

(8.3)
$$F'_2 = F_2 - \psi(\operatorname{Int} D^2 \times D^2),$$

(8.4)
$$Y_1 = \partial F_1 - \psi (\partial D^2 \times \operatorname{Int} D^2).$$

(8.5)
$$Y_2 = \partial F_2 - \psi(\operatorname{Int} D^2 \times \partial D^2).$$

Then $(j_i)_*$: $H_2(F'_i, Y_i) \to H_2(F_i, \partial F_i)$ is an isomorphism, where j_i : $(F'_i, Y_i) \to (F_i, \partial F_i)$ is the inclusion map (i = 1, 2).

PROOF. By Lefschetz duality we have an isomorphism $H_2(F'_1, Y_1) \cong H^2(F'_1, \psi(D^2 \times \partial D^2))$. Furthermore, the latter group is isomorphic to $H^2(F_1, \psi(D^2 \times D^2))$ by excision. Then since $\psi(D^2 \times D^2)$ is contractible, we have $H^2(F_1, \psi(D^2 \times D^2)) \cong \tilde{H}^2(F_1) \cong H_2(F_1, \partial F_1)$. It is not difficult to show that the composition of the above isomorphisms $H_2(F'_1, Y_1) \to H_2(F_1, \partial F_1)$ coincides with $(j_1)_*$. Similarly we can show that $(j_2)_*$ is an isomorphism. This completes the proof. \Box

Now let $\{x_1, \ldots, x_k\}$ and $\{y_1, \ldots, y_l\}$ be fixed bases of $H_2(F_1)$ and $H_2(F_2)$ respectively. Let $\{x_1^*, \ldots, x_k^*\}$ and $\{y_1^*, \ldots, y_l^*\}$ be their dual bases of $H_2(F_1, \partial F_1) \cong H^2(F_1)$ and $H_2(F_2, \partial F_2) \cong H^2(F_2)$ respectively. Note that $x_i \cdot x_j^* = \delta_{ij}$ and $y_i \cdot y_j^* = \delta_{ij}$. By the above lemma, we may assume that the supports of the representatives of $x_1^*, \ldots, x_k^*, y_1^*, \ldots, y_l^*$ do not intersect with $\psi(D^2 \times D^2)$. Furthermore, it is easy to see that $\{x_1, \ldots, x_k, y_1, \ldots, y_l\}$ and $\{x_1^*, \ldots, x_k^*, y_1^*, \ldots, y_l^*\}$ constitute bases of $H_2(F)$ and $H_2(F, \partial F)$ respectively. Set

(8.6)
$$\Delta_1(x_j^*) = \sum_{i=1}^k D_{ij}^1 x_i \text{ and } \Delta_2(y_j^*) = \sum_{i=1}^l D_{ij}^2 y_i,$$

where Δ_i is the variation map of h_i . Furthermore, set Q_{ij} to be the intersection number $x_i \cdot y_j$ in $F = F_1 \Box F_2$ and set $L_1(x_i, x_j) = L_{ij}^1$ and $L_2(y_i, y_j) = L_{ij}^2$, where L_i are the Seifert forms of K_i . Here we assume that the map $i : F \to S^5 - F$ used in the definition of the Seifert form satisfies that $i(\psi(D^2 \times D^2)) \subset D_1^5$. Then the Seifert matrix L of F with respect to the basis $\{x_1, \ldots, x_k, y_1, \ldots, y_l\}$ is equal to

(8.7)
$$\begin{pmatrix} L^1 & 0 \\ {}^t\!Q & L^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $L^s = (L_{ij}^s)$ (s = 1, 2) and $Q = (Q_{ij})$. Thus L is unimodular, which implies that K is an almost fibered knot (see Remark 2.8 (1)).

Now let us calculate the variation map Δ_h of h. We have

(8.8)
$$\Delta_h(x_i^*) = x_i^* - (\tilde{h}_2 \circ \tilde{h}_1)_*(x_i^*)$$

$$(8.9) \qquad = x_i^* - (h_2)_*(x_i^*) + (h_2)_*(x_i^* - (h_1)_*(x_i^*))$$

$$(8.10) \qquad = (h_2)_*(x_i^* - (h_1)_*(x_i^*))$$

(8.11)
$$= (\tilde{h}_2)_*(\Delta_1(x_i^*))$$

(8.12)
$$= \Delta_1(x_i^*) - \Delta_2\left(\sum_{j=1}^l (\Delta_1(x_i^*) \cdot y_j)y_j^*\right)$$

(8.13)
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{k} D_{ji}^{1} x_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{l} \sum_{m=1}^{k} D_{mi}^{1} (x_{m} \cdot y_{j}) \sum_{n=1}^{l} D_{nj}^{2} y_{n}$$

(8.14)
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{k} D_{ji}^{1} x_{j} - \sum_{n=1}^{l} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{l} \sum_{m=1}^{k} D_{mi}^{1} Q_{mj} D_{nj}^{2} \right) y_{n},$$

where (8.10) is valid since the support of a representative of x_i^* does not intersect with F_2 . Furthermore we have

(8.15)
$$\Delta_h(y_j^*) = y_j^* - (\tilde{h}_2)_* \circ (\tilde{h}_1)_*(y_j^*)$$

$$(8.16) = y_j^* - (h_2)_*(y_j^*)$$

$$(8.17) \qquad \qquad = \quad \Delta_2(y_j^*)$$

(8.18)
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{l} D_{nj}^2 y_n.$$

Thus the matrix representative of Δ_h is equal to

(8.19)
$$\begin{pmatrix} D^1 & 0\\ -D^{2t}QD^1 & D^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $D^s = (D_{ij}^s)$ (s = 1, 2). Since K_1 and K_2 are fibered knots, D^1 and D^2 are unimodular. Thus Δ_h is an isomorphism. Then using the open book construction [37], we can construct a fibered knot K' with fiber F and geometric monodromy h. Furthermore, the Seifert matrix L' of K' satisfies

$$(8.20) L' = D^{-1}$$

(8.21)
$$= \begin{pmatrix} (D^{1})^{-1} & 0 \\ {}^{t}Q & (D^{2})^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(8.22) \qquad \qquad = \begin{pmatrix} L^1 & 0\\ {}^tQ & L^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(8.23) \qquad \qquad = L.$$

Thus the fibered 3-knot K' is isotopic to the almost fibered knot K by Theorem 2.2 and Remark 2.8 (1), and hence K is a fibered 3-knot. To show that the fiber of K is isotopic to $F_1 \Box F_2$, we need the following.

LEMMA 8.3. Let $\xi_i : F \to S^5$ (i = 1, 2) be two smooth embeddings, where F is a compact 1-connected 4-manifold with connected boundary. Suppose that the Seifert forms of $\xi_i(F)$ coincide with each other. Then ξ_1 and ξ_2 are isotopic as embedding maps.

PROOF. By Lemma 2.3, $F \natural k N$ has a handlebody decomposition without 3-handles for some nonnegative integer k, where $N = (S^2 \times S^2)^{\circ}$. Then we can extend ξ_i to the embedding $\tilde{\xi}_i : F \natural kN \to S^5$ by using the trivial embedding $N \to S^5$. Note that the Seifert forms of $\tilde{\xi}_i$ coincide. Then by using the same argument as in [54, §§18–20], we see that $\tilde{\xi}_i$ are isotopic to each other. Then their restrictions ξ_i to F are also isotopic. This completes the proof. \Box

By the above lemma, we see that a fiber of K' is isotopic to $F_1 \Box F_2$ embedded in S^5 . Thus K is a fibered 3-knot with fiber $F_1 \Box F_2$. This completes the proof of Theorem 8.1. \Box

REMARK 8.4. By [65, 2.4. Theorem], the fibered 3-knot $K_1 \Box K_2$ unfolds into K_1 and K_2 .

REMARK 8.5. Suppose that F_1 and F_2 are compact 1-connected 4manifolds with connected boundary embedded in S^5 such that they are separated by a standardly embedded 4-sphere. Then we can construct F = $F_1 \Box F_2$ by the plumbing construction. Furthermore, suppose that ∂F is a fibered 3-knot with fiber F. Then is it true that ∂F_i are fibered 3-knots with fiber F_i ? The answer is "no" in general as follows. Let F_1 be the punctured K3 surface embedded in S^5 as in Proposition 6.2. Furthermore let F_2 be the fiber of a stabilizer as defined in [75, §4]. Note that F_2 is diffeomorphic to $(S^2 \times S^2 \sharp S^2 \times S^2)^\circ$. Then the connected sum of ∂F_1 and ∂F_2 is a fibered 3-knot with fiber $F_1
arrow F_2$ by [74] and Lemma 8.3. Note that the connected sum operation is realized as a special case of a plumbing operation. Thus the plumbing of F_1 and F_2 creates a fiber of a fibered knot, although F_1 is not a fiber of a fibered knot. This example shows that the de-plumbing operation does not work well for fibered 3-knots. Note that the corresponding de-plumbing operation works for higher dimensions (see [55, Proposition 2.1]).

Let K_H be a fibered 3-knot whose Seifert matrix is equal to (± 1) . The fiber of such a fibered knot is called a *Hopf band*. For example, consider the algebraic 3-knot associated with the polynomial $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 \in \mathbf{C}[x, y, z]$ and let F be the fiber. Then it is known that F is a Hopf band. In this case, ∂F is diffeomorphic to the lens space $L(2, 1) \cong \mathbf{R}P^3$.

DEFINITION 8.6. We say that a fibered 3-knot K is obtained by plumbing if there exists a sequence of compact 1-connected 4-manifolds with con-

nected boundary F_0, F_1, \ldots, F_s embedded in S^5 such that $F_0 = D^4, \partial F_s = K$ and F_{i+1} is obtained by plumbing together F_i and a Hopf band. For the classical case (i.e., for 1-knots) see [83], [30]. For higher dimensions, see [55].

Then we can show the following by the same argument as in [55, Proposition 2.4].

PROPOSITION 8.7. If a fibered 3-knot K is obtained by plumbing, then it has a unimodular triangular Seifert matrix.

We do not know if the converse is also true for fibered 3-knots. By the same argument as in [55, §3], we obtain the following.

PROPOSITION 8.8. Let K be a fibered 3-knot obtained by plumbing such that $H_1(K) = 0$, that the fiber F has a positive definite intersection form Q. Then Q is an orthogonal direct sum of copies of the form E_8 .

We end this section by posing some problems.

Problem 8.9. (1) Does there exist a fibered S^3 -knot which cannot be obtained by plumbing?

(2) Let K be a fibered 3-knot. Then does there exist a sequence F_0 , F_1, \ldots, F_s of compact 1-connected 4-manifolds with connected boundary embedded in S^5 such that $F_0 = D^4, \partial F_s = K$ and either F_{i+1} is obtained by plumbing together F_i and a Hopf band or F_i is obtained by plumbing together F_{i+1} and a Hopf band (see [56])?

9. Application to Isotopy of 1-Connected 4-Manifolds with Boundary

In [72], it has been shown that two (orientation preserving) homeomorphisms of a *closed* simply connected 4-manifold are homotopic if and only if the induced isomorphisms on the second homology group coincide (see also [17, §5]). Using this, Quinn [72] has shown that two homeomorphisms with the same isomorphism on the second homology group are actually topologically isotopic. In this section we apply our results in the previous sections

to the case where the simply connected 4-manifold has nonempty connected boundary.

First we show the following.

PROPOSITION 9.1. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold with connected boundary. Suppose that $h_i: F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) are orientation preserving diffeomorphisms which are the identity on the boundary and whose associated variation maps $\Delta_{h_i}: H_2(F, \partial F) \to H_2(F)$ are isomorphisms. Then $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$ if and only if h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic relative to boundary.

PROOF. Since the variation maps are isomorphisms, we can construct fibered 3-knots K_i with fiber F and geometric monodromy h_i by the open book construction [37]. If $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$, then by Theorem 2.2, K_1 and K_2 are isotopic to each other. In fact, by Lemma 8.3, we may assume that they have a common fiber F embedded in S^5 . Let N(F) be a regular neighborhood of F in S^5 and set $V = S^5 - \operatorname{Int} N(F)$. Then we have diffeomorphisms $\psi_i : F \times I \to V$ which arise from the fibrations $S^5 - K_i \to S^1$. Then the composition $\psi_2^{-1} \circ \psi_1 : F \times I \to F \times I$ gives a smooth pseudoisotopy relative to boundary between the identity and $h_2^{-1} \circ h_1$. Thus h_1 and h_2 are smoothly pseudoisotopic relative to boundary. Finally by [72], [69], h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic relative to boundary.

Conversely, if h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic relative to boundary, then we see easily that $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$ by the definition of the variation map. This completes the proof. \Box

PROPOSITION 9.2. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold with connected boundary such that there exists a unimodular matrix L with $L + {}^{t}L$ an intersection matrix of F. Suppose that $h_i : F \to F$ (i = 1, 2)are homeomorphisms such that $h_1 \circ h_2^{-1}$ is topologically isotopic relative to boundary to a diffeomorphism. Then h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic relative to boundary if and only if $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$.

PROOF. By using Kervaire's method [41] we can construct an embedding $\xi: F \to S^5$ such that the Seifert matrix coincides with L. Then, since L is unimodular, $K = \xi(\partial F)$ is almost fibered; i.e., $V = S^5 - \text{Int } N(\xi(F))$ is an *h*-cobordism relative to boundary between two copies F_{\pm} of F, where

 $N(\xi(F))$ is a regular neighborhood of $\xi(F)$ in S^5 . In other words, if we identify the two ends F_{\pm} of V by the identity map and then attach $\partial F \times D^2$ along the boundary, then we get S^5 . Note that V is homeomorphic to $F \times I$ by [23].

Now suppose that $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$. By our hypothesis, we may assume that $h_1 \circ h_2^{-1}$ is a diffeomorphism. By using a homological argument, we see that if we use $h_1 \circ h_2^{-1}$ when identifying the two ends of V instead of the identity map, we get S^5 again. Let K' be the almost fibered 3-knot in S^5 thus constructed. Furthermore let h and $h' : F \to F$ be the geometric monodromies of K and K' respectively arising from the homeomorphism $V \to F \times I$. Note that h and h' are homeomorphisms. Then we see that $h' = (h_1 \circ h_2^{-1}) \circ h$.

LEMMA 9.3. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold with connected boundary and let $g_i : F \to F$ (i = 0, 1, 2) be homeomorphisms which are the identity on the boundary. If $\Delta_{g_1} = \Delta_{g_2}$, then we have $\Delta_{g_0 \circ g_1} = \Delta_{g_0 \circ g_2}$ and $\Delta_{g_1 \circ g_0} = \Delta_{g_2 \circ g_0}$.

PROOF. Let $(D, \partial D)$ be an arbitrary 2-cycle in $(F, \partial F)$. Then the 2-cycles $D - g_1(D)$ and $D - g_2(D)$ are homologous in F by our hypothesis. Hence $g_0(D) - g_0 \circ g_1(D)$ and $g_0(D) - g_0 \circ g_2(D)$ are also homologous in F. Thus $D - g_0 \circ g_1(D) = (D - g_0(D)) + (g_0(D) - g_0 \circ g_1(D))$ and $D - g_0 \circ g_2(D) = (D - g_0(D)) + (g_0(D) - g_0 \circ g_2(D))$ are homologous in F. This implies that $\Delta_{g_0 \circ g_1} = \Delta_{g_0 \circ g_2}$. The other equality can be proved similarly. This completes the proof. \Box

By the above lemma together with our assumption that $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$, we see that $\Delta_h = \Delta_{h'}$. This implies that the Seifert forms of K and K' coincide with each other and hence by Theorem 2.2, K and K' are isotopic to each other. In fact, by Lemma 8.3, they have a common fiber F embedded in S^5 . Then by the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 9.1, we see that h and h' are topologically pseudoisotopic relative to boundary. Then by [72], [69], they are topologically isotopic relative to boundary. Since $h' = (h_1 \circ h_2^{-1}) \circ h$, we see that h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic relative to boundary. This completes the proof. \Box

PROPOSITION 9.4. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected spin 4manifold with connected boundary and $h_i: F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) two diffeo-

morphisms which are the identity on the boundary. Then there exists a nonnegative integer k such that $h_i \sharp k(\mathrm{id}) : F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2) \to F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ are smoothly isotopic relative to boundary if and only if $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$.

PROOF. First suppose that $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$. In [74], it has been shown that there exists a nonnegative integer k_1 and a fibered 3-knot K such that $F \sharp k_1(S^2 \times S^2)$ is a fiber of K. Let h be the geometric monodromy of K. Then by an argument similar to the proofs of Propositions 9.1 and 9.2, we see that h and $((h_1 \sharp k_1(\mathrm{id})) \circ (h_2 \sharp k_1(\mathrm{id}))^{-1}) \circ h$ are smoothly pseudoisotopic relative to boundary. This implies that $h_1 \sharp k_1(\mathrm{id})$ and $h_2 \sharp k_1(\mathrm{id})$ are smoothly pseudoisotopic relative to boundary. Then by [72] there exists a nonnegative integer k_2 such that $h_1 \sharp (k_1 + k_2)$ id and $h_2 \sharp (k_1 + k_2)$ id are smoothly isotopic relative to boundary.

Conversely suppose that there exists a nonnegative integer k such that $h_1 \sharp k(\mathrm{id})$ and $h_2 \sharp k(\mathrm{id})$ are smoothly isotopic relative to boundary. Then we have $\Delta_{h_1 \sharp k(\mathrm{id})} = \Delta_{h_2 \sharp k(\mathrm{id})}$. It is easy to see that $\Delta_{h_i \sharp k(\mathrm{id})} : H_2(F \natural k(S^2 \times S^2)^\circ), \partial(F \natural k(S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)) \to H_2(F \natural k(S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)$ decomposes into the direct sum of the two maps $\Delta_{h_i} : H_2(F, \partial F) \to H_2(F)$ and $\Delta_{k(\mathrm{id})} : H_2(\natural k(S^2 \times S^2)^\circ), \partial(\natural^k(S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)) \to H_2(\natural^k(S^2 \times S^2)^\circ)$. Thus we have $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$. This completes the proof. \Box

As we have used the techniques of fibered 3-knots in S^5 in the above propositions, we have needed some technical assumptions on F and on the homeomorphisms. It is probable that the following conjectures hold.

CONJECTURE 9.5. Let F be a compact 1-connected topological 4-manifold (possibly with boundary) and $h_i: F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) two homeomorphisms which are the identity on the boundary. Then h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic relative to boundary if and only if $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$.

CONJECTURE 9.6. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold (possibly with boundary) and $h_i : F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) two diffeomorphisms which are the identity on the boundary. Then there exists a nonnegative integer k such that $h_i \sharp k(\mathrm{id}) : F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2) \to F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ (i = 1, 2) are smoothly isotopic relative to boundary if and only if $\Delta_{h_1} = \Delta_{h_2}$.

As to isotopies which may not fix the boundary points, we have the following result.

PROPOSITION 9.7. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected 4-manifold with connected boundary such that there exists a unimodular matrix L with $L + {}^{t}L$ an intersection matrix of F. We suppose that ∂F is homeomorphic to a lens space L(p,q) $(p \ge 2)$, the 3-sphere S^3 , or the Poincaré homology 3-sphere $\Sigma(2,3,5)$. Suppose that $h_i : F \to F$ (i = 1,2) are homeomorphisms such that $h_1 \circ h_2^{-1}$ is topologically isotopic to a diffeomorphism. Then h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic (not necessarily relative to boundary) if and only if $(h_1)_* = (h_2)_* : H_2(F) \to H_2(F)$.

For the proof, we need the following.

LEMMA 9.8. Let F be a compact 1-connected 4-manifold with $H_1(\partial F; \mathbf{Q}) = 0$ and $g_i : F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) homeomorphisms which are the identity on the boundary. Then $\Delta_{g_1} = \Delta_{g_2}$ if and only if $(g_1)_* = (g_2)_* : H_2(F) \to H_2(F)$.

PROOF. If $\Delta_{g_1} = \Delta_{g_2}$, then for every $\gamma \in H_2(F)$, we have $\gamma - (g_1)_*(\gamma) = \gamma - (g_2)_*(\gamma)$, and hence $(g_1)_* = (g_2)_* : H_2(F) \to H_2(F)$. Conversely, suppose that $(g_1)_* = (g_2)_*$ on $H_2(F)$. By Poincaré-Lefschetz duality and the universal coefficient theorem, $H_2(F, \partial F)$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Hom}(H_2(F), \mathbb{Z})$ and hence $(g_1)_* = (g_2)_* : H_2(F, \partial F) \to H_2(F, \partial F)$. Let $(D, \partial D)$ be a 2-cycle in $(F, \partial F)$. Then there exists a 3-chain \tilde{D} in F such that $D' = \partial \tilde{D} - (g_1(D) - g_2(D))$ is a 2-chain in ∂F . Furthermore, we have $\partial D' = -g_1(\partial D) + g_2(\partial D) = 0$, since g_i are the identity on the boundary. Thus D' is a 2-cycle in ∂F . Since by our hypothesis we have $H_2(\partial F) = 0$, there exists a 3-chain \tilde{D}' in ∂F such that $\partial \tilde{D}' = D'$. Thus $\tilde{D} - \tilde{D}'$ is a 3-chain in F and we have $\partial(\tilde{D} - \tilde{D}') = g_1(D) - g_2(D)$. This implies that $D - g_1(D)$ and $D - g_2(D)$ are homologous in F. Thus $\Delta_{g_1} = \Delta_{g_2} : H_2(F, \partial F) \to H_2(F)$. This completes the proof. \Box

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 9.7. First suppose that $(h_1)_* = (h_2)_*$ on $H_2(F)$. We may assume that $g = h_1 \circ h_2^{-1}$ is a diffeomorphism. Then g induces the identity on $H_2(F)$ and on $H_2(F, \partial F)$. Thus $g|_{\partial F}$ also induces the identity on $H_1(\partial F)$. Then by [33], [8], [31], [7], we see that $g|_{\partial F}$ is isotopic to the identity on ∂F . Thus we may assume that $g|_{\partial F}$ is already the identity. Then by the above lemma, we see that the variation maps of g and

the identity coincide. Then by Proposition 9.2, g and the identity are topologically isotopic relative to boundary. Hence h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic.

Conversely, if h_1 and h_2 are topologically isotopic, then we have $(h_1)_* = (h_2)_*$ on $H_2(F)$. This completes the proof. \Box

Using a similar argument together with Proposition 9.4, we obtain the following.

PROPOSITION 9.9. Let F be a smooth compact 1-connected spin 4manifold with boundary homeomorphic to a lens space L(p,q) $(p \ge 2)$, the 3-sphere S^3 , or the Poincaré homology 3-sphere $\Sigma(2,3,5)$. Suppose that $h_i: F \to F$ (i = 1, 2) are orientation preserving diffeomorphisms. Then there exists a nonnegative integer k such that $h_i \sharp k(\mathrm{id}) : F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2) \to$ $F \sharp k(S^2 \times S^2)$ are smoothly isotopic (not necessarily relative to boundary) if and only if $(h_1)_* = (h_2)_* : H_2(F) \to H_2(F)$.

REMARK 9.10. Let K_1, \ldots, K_n be the fibered 3-knots constructed in Theorem 3.1 and let h_j be the geometric monodromy of K_j . Then $h_j|_{\partial F} = \mathrm{id}$ and $(h_i)_* = (h_j)_*$ on $H_*(F)$ and on $H_*(F, \partial F)$ for all i and j. This is seen as follows. It is known that if L_j is a Seifert matrix of K_j , then the matrix representative of $(h_j)_*$ on $H_2(F)$ is given by $-L_j^{-1t}L_j$ (see, for example, [21], [36]). Furthermore, it is easy to see that $-J_j^{-1t}J_j$ is equal to the unit matrix, since J_j is skew-symmetric. Thus the matrix $-L_j^{-1t}L_j$ does not depend on j. However h_i is not homotopic relative to boundary to h_j by Corollary 2.9 if $i \neq j$. In fact the variation maps Δ_{h_i} and $\Delta_{h_j} : H_2(F, \partial F) \to H_2(F)$ are different $(i \neq j)$. We do not know if they are topologically isotopic (not necessarily relative to boundary).

10. Application to Embeddings of 4-Manifolds into S^6

First we prove the following.

.

PROPOSITION 10.1. Let M be a smooth closed 1-connected spin 4-manifold. Then there exists a fibered 3-knot whose fiber is diffeomorphic to

(10.1)
$$\begin{cases} (M\sharp(S^2 \times S^2))^\circ, & \text{if } M \text{ is not a homotopy 4-sphere, and} \\ M^\circ, & \text{if } M \text{ is a homotopy 4-sphere,} \end{cases}$$

where X° denotes $X - \operatorname{Int} D^4$ for a 4-manifold X.

REMARK 10.2. If M is a homotopy 4-sphere, then $(M \sharp (S^2 \times S^2))^{\circ}$ cannot be a fiber of any simple fibered 3-knot. This is because there exists no unimodular matrix L such that

(10.2)
$$L + {}^{t}L = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right).$$

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 10.1. By Donaldson's theorem [18], the intersection matrix of M is indefinite. First suppose that M is not a homotopy 4-sphere and set $F = (M \sharp (S^2 \times S^2))^\circ$. Let Q be the intersection form of F. Then by [88] every isometry of Q is induced by some self-diffeomorphism of F which is the identity on the boundary. Therefore, if we find a unimodular matrix L such that $L + {}^tL$ is a matrix representative of Q, then the conclusion follows by the same argument as in [74, §3].

By Serre's theorem (see, for example, [60]), Q is isomorphic to $\alpha E_8 \oplus \beta U$ with $\beta \geq 2$. Set

,

$$L_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, L_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and}$$

$$(10.3) \qquad L_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

then L_i (i = 0, 1, 2) are unimodular, $L_0 + {}^tL_0$ is a matrix representative of $U \oplus U$, $L_1 + {}^tL_1$ is a matrix representative of $U \oplus U \oplus U$, and $L_2 + {}^tL_2$ is a matrix representative of E_8 . Combining these matrices, we obtain a

unimodular matrix L such that $L + {}^{t}L$ is a matrix representative of Q. This completes the proof for the case where M is not a homotopy 4-sphere.

When M is a homotopy 4-sphere, we can perform the open book construction [37] by using the identity map $M^{\circ} \to M^{\circ}$ and get a desired fibered 3-knot. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 10.3. Let K be a fibered 3-knot with fiber F. Suppose F' is a compact 1-connected smooth 4-manifold with boundary diffeomorphic to ∂F . Then F' can be embedded into S^5 as an *almost fiber* of K (see Remark 2.8 (1)) if and only if F' is smoothly h-cobordant to F relative to boundary.

Using the above theorem, we can give an alternative proof of Cappell-Shaneson's embedding theorem [13] in the case where the 4-manifold is simply connected.

THEOREM 10.4. Let M be a smooth closed 1-connected spin 4-manifold. Then the following two hold.

- (1) The 4-manifold M admits a PL embedding into S^6 which is locally flat except possibly at one point of M.
- (2) If the signature of M vanishes, then M embeds smoothly into S^6 .

PROOF. (1) We can embed $(M \sharp 2(S^2 \times S^2))^\circ$ smoothly into S^5 by Proposition 10.1. This implies that M° embeds smoothly in S^5 . Putting the cone on the punctured hole in $S^6 = D^6 \cup_{S^5} D^6$, we see that M embeds in S^6 in the required manner.

(2) By Proposition 10.1 and its proof, M° embeds smoothly in S^5 so that its Seifert matrix L is the direct sum of some copies of

(10.4)
$$L_0, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

(If M is a homotopy 4-sphere, then L is the zero matrix.) Clearly this matrix L is null-cobordant in the sense of Levine [53]. Thus ∂M° bounds a 4-disk which is smoothly embedded in D^6 ($\partial D^6 = S^5$). Putting together

the embedded M° in S^5 and the 4-disk in D^6 , we get a required embedding of M into S^6 . This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 10.5. (1) We can prove the above theorem by a similar argument without using Donaldson's theorem.

(2) If M° itself is a fiber of a fibered 3-knot K in S^5 , then the embedding of M into D^6 constructed in the proof of Theorem 10.4 (1) is closely related to the trivial unfolding of K as discussed in [65, §1].

REMARK 10.6. Cappell and Shaneson [13] state the above theorem without the assumption that M should be simply connected (see also [73]).

REMARK 10.7. In fact, the 4-manifolds as in Theorem 10.4 (2) embed into S^5 (see [15], [16]).

11. Application to the Topology of Hypersurface Singularities in C^3

Let $f \in \mathbf{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_{n+1}]$ be a complex polynomial of n + 1 complex variables. We suppose that f(0) = 0 and that f has an isolated critical point at the origin. For a sufficiently small positive real number ε , we set $K_f = S_{\varepsilon}^{2n+1} \cap f^{-1}(0)$, where S_{ε}^{2n+1} is the (2n+1)-sphere in \mathbf{C}^{n+1} centered at the origin with radius ε . It is known that K_f is a smooth closed (2n-1)manifold and that the isotopy class of K_f in S^{2n+1} does not depend on the choice of ε , provided that it is sufficiently small. We call the isotopy class of K_f the algebraic knot associated with f. In [59], it has been shown that

(11.1)
$$\phi_f = f/|f| : S_{\varepsilon}^{2n+1} - K_f \to S^1$$

is a locally trivial smooth fibration and that, with this fibration, K_f is a simple fibered (2n - 1)-knot in the sense of Definition 2.1. The fiber F_f of the fibration ϕ_f is called the *Milnor fiber* of f and the *n*-th betti number $\mu(f)$ of F_f is called the *Milnor number* of f.

By [59], it has been shown that the topological type of $f^{-1}(0) \subset \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$) at the origin is completely determined by the algebraic knot $K_f \subset S^{2n+1}$. Thus, the study of algebraic knots plays an important role in the topological study of isolated hypersurface singularities in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} . (For various definitions of the topological type of such an isolated hypersurface singularity, see [77].)

In this section, we apply our results in the previous sections to the study of algebraic knots in S^5 and hence to the study of isolated hypersurface singularities in \mathbb{C}^3 .

Let $f_t : \mathbf{C}^{n+1}, 0 \to \mathbf{C}, 0$ $(t \in [0, 1])$ be a μ -constant deformation; i.e., each f_t is a polynomial of n + 1 complex variables with $f_t(0) = 0$ and with an isolated critical point at the origin such that the Milnor numbers $\mu(f_t)$ are constant. It has been known that if $n \neq 2$, then the algebraic knots K_{f_t} are isotopic to each other [52]. When n = 2, we have a partial result as follows.

PROPOSITION 11.1. Let $f_t : \mathbf{C}^3, 0 \to \mathbf{C}, 0 \ (t \in [0, 1])$ be a μ -constant deformation of an isolated singularity. Suppose that $H_1(K_{f_0}) \cong \mathbf{Z}/r\mathbf{Z}$, where $r = 1, 2, 4, p^m$ or $2p^m$ with p an odd prime. Furthermore we suppose that $\pi_1(K_{f_0}) \cong \pi_1(K_{f_1})$. Then the algebraic knots K_{f_0} and K_{f_1} are isotopic to each other.

PROOF. It is not difficult to see that the isomorphism class of the Seifert form is constant under a μ -constant deformation (for details, see [78]). This implies that the homology groups of K_{f_t} are also constant. If $\pi_1(K_{f_i})$ are finite groups, then the result follows from [22], [76]. If $\pi_1(K_{f_i})$ are infinite, then it has been shown that if K_{f_0} and K_{f_1} have isomorphic fundamental groups, then they are diffeomorphic [64] (not necessarily preserving the orientations). More precisely, in [64], Neumann considers diffeomorphisms which preserve the orientations, and the case where the link 3-manifold is a torus bundle over the circle is excluded. In this case, it is a Haken 3-manifold and the above result follows from [87]. Now by our hypothesis, $H_1(K_{f_i})$ are finite, and hence K_{f_i} are not torus bundles over the circle. Thus K_{f_0} and K_{f_1} are orientation preservingly diffeomorphic. Then by Theorem 2.12, we have the conclusion. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 11.2. In fact, in Proposition 11.1 the polynomial functions f_0 and f_1 are right equivalent as germs at the origin; i.e., there exists a homeomorphism germ $\Phi : \mathbb{C}^3, 0 \to \mathbb{C}^3, 0$ such that $f_0 = f_1 \circ \Phi$ as germs at the origin. This is true, since the fibrations associated with K_{f_0} and K_{f_1} are homotopic. See [42], [68].

749

REMARK 11.3. Szczepanski [84] claims a more general result in which she drops the assumption on $H_1(K_{f_0})$. Unfortunately her proof contains some gaps as follows.

(1) In the fourth paragraph of the proof of Theorem 2 of [84], she claims that there exists a **Z**-homology cobordism between V and $K \times I$. In order to prove this, she assumes that $V \cup (K \times I)$ is homologically indistinguishable from $K \times S^1$ (see [84, Appendix]). However, this is not always the case, since she assumes only the existence of a diffeomorphism ψ between the two boundaries K_0 and K_1 of V. Let $\varphi : H_*(K_0) \to H_*(K_1)$ be the isomorphism induced by the inclusions into the homology cobordism V. Then $V \cup (K \times I)$ has the same homology as $K \times S^1$ if and only if $\psi_* = \varphi$. Therefore ψ should satisfy this homological condition. See also [84, Remark 1 (p.521)].

(2) The 4-manifold $V \cup (K \times I)$ must be a spin manifold. In the proof of Proposition 3.1 of [84], she claims that $\alpha \cup \beta : V \cup (K \times I) \to S^3 \times S^1$ gives a degree one normal map (see also [11]). If this is the case, the stable normal bundle of $V \cup (K \times I)$ should be trivial, since that of $S^3 \times S^1$ is trivial. This is equivalent to that $V \cup (K \times I)$ is spin; i.e., $w_2(V \cup (K \times I)) = 0$. Note that such a 4-manifold is not always spin; for example, consider the $S^1 \times S^2$ -bundle over S^1 whose monodromy is the diffeomorphism defined by $(z, w) \mapsto (z, zw)$, where we identify S^1 with the unit circle in \mathbb{C} and S^2 with $\overline{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$. Thus one needs to assume that the diffeomorphism ψ preserves the spin structures of K_i associated with the corresponding Milnor fibers.

Consequently Theorems A, B, 1, 2, and 3 of [84] need some corrections. Here we note that the part (1) above corresponds to the condition (4)(b) in our Theorem 2.2 and the part (2) above to the condition (4)(a). We also note that the two conditions are independent as is seen from the example in (2) above.

Note that the condition on $H_1(K_{f_0})$ in Proposition 11.1 eliminates the two problems above.

We also note that Szczepanski [84] misunderstands something about the orientations of link 3-manifolds. For example, in the proof of [84, Theorem 2], one should note that the embedding of a Milnor fiber into the other which homologically identifies the strongly distinguished bases is automatically orientation preserving. Thus $\partial V = K_0 \cup (-K_1)$. Therefore, the diffeomorphism $\psi: K_0 \to K_1$ should be orientation preserving so that $V \cup (K \times I)$,

which we construct by using id : $K \times \{0\} \to K_0$ and $\psi : K_0 \times \{1\} \to K_1$, becomes orientable.

Furthermore, when the link 3-manifolds are lens spaces, Szczepanski [84] uses an argument a little bit complicated (see [84, Theorem 3]). (For example, she uses a result of [34] which is valid only in the case where $H_1(K_i)$ are of prime power order.) We can find a shorter proof as in our proof of Proposition 11.1.

PROPOSITION 11.4. Let $f \in \mathbf{C}[x, y, z]$ be a polynomial of three complex variables with f(0) = 0 and with an isolated critical point at the origin. We suppose that $H_1(K_f) \cong \mathbf{Z}/r\mathbf{Z}$, where $r = 1, 2, 4, p^m$ or $2p^m$ with p an odd prime. If f can be connected by a μ -constant deformation to a polynomial with real coefficients, then f is right equivalent to \bar{f} , where $\bar{f} : \mathbf{C}^3, 0 \to \mathbf{C}, 0$ is the function defined by $\bar{f}(z) = \overline{f(z)}$ (the complex conjugate of $f(z) \in \mathbf{C}$).

PROOF. Define the diffeomorphisms $\Phi_0 : \mathbf{C}^3 \to \mathbf{C}^3$ and $\tau : \mathbf{C} \to \mathbf{C}$ by $\Phi_0(z_1, z_2, z_3) = (\bar{z}_1, \bar{z}_2, \bar{z}_3)$ and $\tau(z) = \bar{z}$ respectively. Let g be a polynomial with real coefficients which is connected to f by a μ -constant deformation. Then we have $g = \tau \circ g \circ \Phi_0$. Thus K_g is orientation preservingly isotopic to its mirror image. (Note that the fibration associated with the map $\tau \circ g \circ \Phi_0$ coincides with the fibration associated with q but with reversed orientations of S^5 and S^1 . In particular, the orientations of the fibers and the knots coincide.) In other words, K_g is (+1)-amphicheiral. This implies that the Seifert matrix L_g of K_g is congruent to tL_g . Since the congruence class of the Seifert matrix is invariant under μ -constant deformations, we see that L_f is also congruent to tL_f , where L_f is the Seifert matrix of K_f . Then by Theorem 2.12, K_f and its mirror image are isotopic to each other. Thus the fibered 3-knots associated with the maps f and $\tau \circ f \circ \Phi_0$ are isotopic. Then by Perron [68], we see that there exits a homeomorphism germ $\Phi : \mathbf{C}^3, 0 \to \mathbf{C}^3, 0$ such that $\overline{f} = f \circ \Phi$ as germs at the origin. This completes the proof. \Box

Compare the above proposition with [77, Proposition 6].

PROPOSITION 11.5. Let f and $g \in \mathbb{C}[x, y, z]$ be polynomials of three complex variables with f(0) = g(0) = 0 and with isolated critical points at

the origin. We suppose that $H_1(K_f; \mathbf{Q}) = 0 = H_1(K_g; \mathbf{Q})$. Then if there exists a homeomorphism germ $\Phi : \mathbf{C}^3, 0 \to \mathbf{C}^3, 0$ such that $\Phi(f^{-1}(0)) = g^{-1}(0)$ as germs at the origin, then the algebraic knots K_f and K_g are isotopic.

PROOF. It is not difficult to see that, under the above hypothesis, there exists a topological (oriented) invertible cobordism between (S^5, K_f) and (S^5, K_g) (for details, see [77]). Then we see that $(E(K_f), \partial E(K_f))$ and $(E(K_g), \partial E(K_g))$ are orientation preservingly homotopy equivalent. Then the result follows from Theorem 4.1 when the fundamental groups are infinite (see [64], [66]). When the fundamental groups are finite, we can use an argument similar to that in the proof of Proposition 11.1. This completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 11.6. In the above proposition, the assumption on $H_1(K_f; \mathbf{Q})$ and $H_1(K_g; \mathbf{Q})$ are in fact redundant. For details, see [77]. Note that our proof is different from that given in [77].

References

- Bayer, E., Unimodular hermitian and skew-hermitian forms, J. Algebra 74 (1982), 341–373.
- [2] Bayer, E., Definite hermitian forms and the cancellation of simple knots, Arch. Math. 40 (1983), 182–185.
- [3] Bayer-Fluckiger, E., Higher dimensional simple knots and minimal Seifert surfaces, Comment. Math. Helv. **58** (1983), 646–655.
- [4] Bayer-Fluckiger, E., Cancellation of hyperbolic ε-hermitian forms and of simple knots, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 98 (1985), 111–115.
- [5] Bayer-Fluckiger, E., Hillman, J. A. and C. Kearton, The factorization of simple knots, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 90 (1981), 495–506.
- [6] Bayer-Fluckiger, E., Kearton, C. and S. M. J. Wilson, Decomposition of modules, forms and simple knots, J. Reine Angew. Math. 375/376 (1987), 167–183.
- [7] Boileau, M. and J.-P. Otal, Groupe des difféotopies de certaines variétés de Seifert, C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris 303 (1986), 19–22.
- Bonahon, F., Difféotopies des espaces lenticulaires, Topology 22 (1983), 305– 314.
- [9] Boyer, S., Simply-connected 4-manifolds with a given boundary, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **298** (1986), 331–357.

- [10] Brieskorn, E., Beispiele zur Differentialtopologie von Singularitäten, Inv. Math. 2 (1966), 1–14.
- [11] Browder, W., Surgery on simply-connected manifolds, Ergebnisse Math., Band 65, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1972.
- [12] Cappell, S. E. and J. L. Shaneson, There exist inequivalent knots with the same complement, Ann. of Math. 103 (1976), 349–353.
- [13] Cappell, S. E. and J. L. Shaneson, Embedding and immersion of fourdimensional manifolds in R⁶, Geometric Top. Proc. of the 1977 Georgia Top. Conf., Academic Press, New York, 1979, pp.301–305.
- [14] Cerf, J., La stratification naturelle des espaces de fonctions différentiables réelles et le théorème de la pseudo-isotopie, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 39 (1970), 5–173.
- [15] Cochran, T., Embedding 4-manifolds in S^5 , Topology **23** (1984), 257–269.
- [16] Cochran, T., 4-Manifolds which embed in \mathbb{R}^6 but not in \mathbb{R}^5 , and Seifert manifolds for fibered knots, Inv. Math. **77** (1984), 173–184.
- [17] Cochran, T. and N. Habegger, On the homotopy theory of simply connected four manifolds, Topology 29 (1990), 419–440.
- [18] Donaldson, S., An application of gauge theory to 4-dimensional topology, J. Diff. Geom. 18 (1983), 279–315.
- [19] Donaldson, S., Connections, cohomology and the intersection forms of 4manifolds, J. Diff. Geom. 24 (1986), 275–341.
- [20] Donaldson, S., Polynomial invariants for smooth four-manifolds, Topology 29 (1990), 257–315.
- [21] Durfee, A., Fibered knots and algebraic singularities, Topology 13 (1974), 47–59.
- [22] Durfee, A., Fifteen characterizations of rational double points and simple critical points, l'Enseign. Math. 25 (1979), 131–163.
- [23] Freedman, M., The topology of four-dimensional manifolds, J. Diff. Geom. 17 (1982), 357–453.
- [24] Fukuhara, S., On an invariant of homology lens spaces, J. Math. Soc. Japan 36 (1984), 259–277.
- [25] Gabai, D., On the geometric and topological rigidity of hyperbolic 3-manifolds, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. **31** (1994), 228–232.
- [26] Gompf, R. E., Stable diffeomorphism of compact 4-manifolds, Topology Appl. 18 (1984), 115–120.
- [27] Gompf, R. E. and T. S. Mrowka, Irreducible four manifolds need not be complex, Ann. of Math. 138 (1993), 61–111.
- [28] Gordon, C. McA. and J. Luecke, Knots are determined by their complements, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 20 (1989), 83–87: J. Amer. Math. Soc. 2 (1989), 371–415.
- [29] Harer, J., On handlebody structures for hypersurfaces in \mathbb{C}^3 and $\mathbb{C}P^3$, Math. Ann. 238 (1978), 51–58.

- [30] Harer, J., How to construct all fibered knots and links, Topology **21** (1982), 263–280.
- [31] Hatcher, A. E., A proof of the Smale Conjecture, $\text{Diff}(S^3) \simeq O(4)$, Ann. of Math. **117** (1983), 553–607.
- [32] Hillman, J. A., Simple locally flat 3-knots, Bull. London Math. Soc. 16 (1984), 599–602.
- [33] Hodgson, C. and J. H. Rubinstein, Involutions and isotopies of lens spaces, Knot theory and manifolds, Lect. Notes Math. no.1144, 1985, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, Tokyo, pp.60–96.
- [34] Hsiang, W. C. and R. H. Szczarba, On embedding surfaces in four-manifolds, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 22 (1971), 97–103.
- [35] Kaplan, S., Constructing framed 4-manifolds with given almost framed boundaries, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 254 (1979), 237–263.
- [36] Kato, M., A classification of simple spinnable structures on a 1-connected Alexander manifold, J. Math. Soc. Japan **26** (1974), 454–463.
- [37] Kauffman, L., Branched coverings, open books and knot periodicity, Topology 13 (1974), 143–160.
- [38] Kearton, C., Factorisation is not unique for 3-knots, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 28 (1979), 451–452.
- [39] Kearton, C., A remarkable 3-knot, Bull. London Math. Soc. 14 (1982), 397– 398.
- [40] Kearton, C., Some non-fibered 3-knots, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 15 (1983), 365–367.
- [41] Kervaire, M., Les nœuds de dimensions supérieures, Bull. Soc. Math. France 93 (1965), 225–271.
- [42] King, H., Topological types of isolated critical points, Ann. of Math. 107 (1978), 385–397.
- [43] Kirby, R. C., Stable homeomorphisms and the annulus conjecture, Ann. of Math. 89 (1969), 575–582.
- [44] Kirby, R. and L. C. Siebenmann, Foundational essays on topological manifolds, Ann. Math. Stud. no.88, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N. J., 1968.
- [45] Kobayashi, K., On the irreducibility of 2-fold branched covers of S³, Osaka J. Math. 17 (1980), 485–494.
- [46] Kojima, S., Determining knots by branched covers, Low-dimensional topology and Kleinian groups, D. B. A. Epstein (ed.), London Math. Soc. Lect. Note Series 112, 1986, pp.193–207.
- [47] Kouno, M., The irreducibility of 2-fold branched covering spaces of 3-manifolds, Math. Sem. Notes 11 (1983), 205–219.
- [48] Laudenbach, F., Topologie de la dimension trois, homotopie et isotopie, Astérisque 12, Soc. Math. France, 1974.
- [49] Laudenbach, F., Submersions sur le cercle, Bull. Soc. Math. France 104 (1976), 417–431.

- [50] Lawson, T., Trivializing 5-dimensional h-cobordisms by stabilization, Manuscripta Math. 29 (1979), 305–321.
- [51] Lê Dũng Tráng, Sur les nœuds algébriques, Compositio Math. 25 (1972), 281–321.
- [52] Lê Dũng Tráng and C. P. Ramanujam, The invariance of Milnor's number implies the invariance of the topological type, Amer. J. Math. 98 (1976), 67–78.
- [53] Levine, J., Knot cobordism groups in codimension two, Comment. Math. Helv. 44 (1969), 229–244.
- [54] Levine, J., An algebraic classification of some knots of codimension two, Comment. Math. Helv. 45 (1970), 185–198.
- [55] Lines, D., On odd-dimensional fibred knots obtained by plumbing and twisting, J. London Math. Soc. 32 (1985), 557–571.
- [56] Lines, D., Stable plumbing for high odd-dimensional fibred knots, Canad. Math. Bull. **30** (1987), 429–435.
- [57] Matsumoto, Y., On the bounding genus of homology 3-spheres, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 29 (1982), 287–318.
- [58] Matumoto, T., On diffeomorphisms of a K3 surface, Algebraic and Topological Theories — to the memory of Dr. Takehiko Miyata, Kinokuniya, Tokyo, 1986, pp.616–621.
- [59] Milnor, J., Singular points of complex hypersurfaces, Ann. Math. Stud. no.61, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N. J., 1968.
- [60] Milnor, J. and D. Husemoller, Symmetric bilinear forms, Ergebnisse Math., Band 73, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1973.
- [61] Moser, L., Elementary surgery along a torus knot, Pacific J. Math. 38 (1971), 737–745.
- [62] Mostow, G. D., Quasiconformal mappings in n-space and the rigidity of hyperbolic space forms, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 34 (1968), 53–104.
- [63] Neumann, W., Cyclic suspension of knots and periodicity of signature for singularities, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1974), 977–981.
- [64] Neumann, W., A calculus for plumbing applied to the topology of complex surface singularities and degenerating complex curves, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 268 (1981), 299–344.
- [65] Neumann, W. and L. Rudolph, Unfoldings in knot theory, Math. Ann. 278 (1987), 409–439; Corrigendum, Math. Ann. 282 (1988), 349–351.
- [66] Orlik, P., Seifert manifolds, Lect. Notes Math. no.291, Springer, Berlin, New York, 1972.
- [67] Orlik, P., Vogt, E. and H. Zieschang, Zur Topologie gefaserter dreidimensionaler Mannigfaltigkeiten, Topology 6 (1967), 49–64.
- [68] Perron, B., Conjugaison topologique des germes de fonctions holomorphes à singularité isolée en dimension trois, Inv. Math. 82 (1985), 27–35.

- [69] Perron, B., Pseudo-isotopies et isotopies en dimension quatre dans la catégorie topologique, Topology 25 (1986), 381–397.
- [70] Quinn, F., Ends of maps III, Dimensions 4 and 5, J. Diff. Geom. 17 (1982), 503–521.
- [71] Quinn, F., The stable topology of 4-manifolds, Topology Appl. 15 (1983), 71–77.
- [72] Quinn, F., Isotopy of 4-manifolds, J. Diff. Geom. 24 (1986), 343–372.
- [73] Ruberman, D., Imbedding four-manifolds and slicing links, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 91 (1982), 107–110.
- [74] Saeki, O., On simple fibered 3-knots in S⁵ and the existence of decomposable algebraic 3-knots, Comment. Math. Helv. 62 (1987), 587–601.
- [75] Saeki, O., Knotted homology 3-spheres in S^5 , J. Math. Soc. Japan **40** (1988), 65–75.
- [76] Saeki, O., Topological invariance of weights for weighted homogeneous isolated singularities in C³, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 103 (1988), 905–909.
- [77] Saeki, O., Topological types of complex isolated hypersurface singularities, Kodai Math. J. 12 (1989), 23–29.
- [78] Saeki, O., Real Seifert form determines the spectrum for semiquasihomogeneous hypesurface singularities in \mathbb{C}^3 , to appear in J. Math. Soc. Japan.
- [79] Safont, C., Coverings of S^3 branched over iterated torus links, Revista Mat. Univ. Complutense de Madrid **3** (1990), 181–210.
- [80] Scott, P., There are no fake Seifert fibre spaces with infinite π_1 , Ann. of Math. **117** (1983), 35–70.
- [81] Shinohara, Y., On the signature of knots and links, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 156 (1971), 273–285.
- [82] Smale, S., On the structure of manifolds, Amer. J. Math. 84 (1962), 387–399.
- [83] Stallings, J., Construction of fibred knots and links, Algebraic and geometric topology, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol.XXXII, Part 2, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R. I., 1978, pp.55–60.
- [84] Szczepanski, S., Criteria for topological equivalence and a Lê-Ramanujam theorem for three complex variables, Duke Math. J. **58** (1989), 513–530.
- [85] Trotter, H. F., Homology of group systems with applications to knot theory, Ann. of Math. 76 (1962), 464–498.
- [86] Waldhausen, F., Eine Klasse von 3-dimensionalen Mannigfaltigkeiten. I, Inv. Math. 3 (1967), 308–333; II, Inv. Math. 4 (1967), 87–117.
- [87] Waldhausen, F., On irreducible 3-manifolds which are sufficiently large, Ann. of Math. 87 (1968), 56–88.
- [88] Wall, C. T. C., Diffeomorphisms of 4-manifolds, J. London Math. Soc. 39 (1964), 131–140.
- [89] Wall, C. T. C., Surgery on compact manifolds, Academic Press, New York, 1971.
- [90] Yamamoto, M., Classification of isolated algebraic singularities by their Alexander polynomials, Topology 23 (1984), 277–287.

[91] Yamamoto, M., Lower bound for the unknotting numbers of certain iterated torus knots, Tokyo J. Math. 9 (1986), 81–86.

(Received March 15, 1999)

Department of Mathematics Faculty of Science Hiroshima University Higashi-Hiroshima 739-8526 Japan E-mail: saeki@math.sci.hiroshima-u.ac.jp